
Page 1 of 2

Board of Trustees
Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting

September 24, 2015
11:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. 

FAIRWINDS Alumni Center
Conference call in phone number 800-442-5794, passcode 463796

AGENDA

I. CALL TO ORDER Alex Martins
Chair, Finance and Facilities Committee

II. ROLL CALL Tracy D. Slavik
Coordinator, Administrative Services
for Administration and Finance Division

III. MEETING MINUTES Chair Martins

∑ Approval of the July 23, 2015,
Finance and Facilities Committee
meeting minutes

IV. NEW BUSINESS Chair Martins

∑ Market Tuition Rate Proposals (FFC-1) Diane Z. Chase
Vice Provost for Academic Program Quality

∑ Revision to University Regulation William F. Merck II
UCF-7.130 Administration and Vice President for Administration
Finance; Purchasing (FFC-2) and Finance and Chief Financial Officer

W. Scott Cole
Vice President and General Counsel
Youndy C. Cook
Deputy General Counsel

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Agenda

1



Page 2 of 2

∑ Minor Amendment to 2015 Campus William F. Merck II
Master Plan—Laboratory and Environmental Lee Kernek
Support Facility Expansion (FFC-3) Associate Vice President for Administration

and Finance

∑ Refinancing of UCF Stadium Corporation William F. Merck II
Certificates of Participation Series 2006A John C. Pittman
and B (FFC-4) Associate Vice President for 

Administration and Finance,
Debt Management

∑ Acquisition of Partnership IV Facility William F. Merck II
From Leidos and Cowperwood (FFC-5)

∑ University Operating Budget Report William F. Merck II
Quarter Ended June 30, 2015 (INFO-1) Tracy Clark

Associate Provost for Budget,
Planning, and Administration and
Associate Vice President for Finance

∑ UCF Investments Quarterly Report William F. Merck II
Ended June 30, 2015 (INFO-2) Tracy Clark

∑ University and DSO Debt Report (INFO-3)        William F. Merck II
John C. Pittman

∑ 2016 Revised Finance and Facilities William F. Merck II
Committee Meeting Dates (INFO-4)

V. OTHER BUSINESS Chair Martins

VI. CLOSING COMMENTS Chair Martins

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Agenda

2



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Minutes

3



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Minutes

4



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

5



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

6



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

7



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

8



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

9



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

10



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

11



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

12



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

13



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

14



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

15



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

16



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

17



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

18



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

19



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

20



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

21



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

22



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

23



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

24



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

25



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

26



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

27



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

28



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

29



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

30



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

31



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

32



Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

33



 

ITEM:  FFC-3 
 
 

University of Central Florida 
Board of Trustees 

Finance and Facilities Committee 
 
 

SUBJECT: Minor Amendment to 2015 Campus Master Plan—Laboratory and  
  Environmental Support Facility Expansion 
 
DATE:  September 24, 2015  
 
 

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 
 

Approve a minor amendment to the University of Central Florida Campus Master Plan 
for an expansion to Building 48, the Laboratory and Environmental Support facility.  
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

The purpose of the proposed amendment is to approve an expansion of the existing 
Laboratory and Environmental Support facility. The department of Environmental Health 
and Safety has undergone a significant increase in staffing in the past few years, and this 
expansion will provide enough office and collaboration space to house two of the three 
EH&S functional groups, the Research and Environmental Support team and the 
Workplace Safety and Insurance groups.  

The amendment would constitute a minor amendment that needs only Board of Trustees 
approval.  

 
Supporting documentation:   Memorandum from Maria Yebra-Teimouri (Attachment A) 
      Project Location (Attachment B) 
      Capital Improvements List (Attachment C) 
      Urban Design Map (Attachment D)  
      
Prepared by:   Lee Kernek, Associate Vice President for Administration and Finance 
 

 Submitted by:  William F. Merck II, Vice President for Administration and Finance and 
      Chief Financial Officer 

 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

34



Attachment A 

Page 1 of 2 
 

           

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:                          W. Scott Cole, Vice President and General Counsel 

FROM:                    Maria Yebra-Teimouri, Coordinator, Facilities Planning 

SUBJECT:              Minor Amendment to 2015 Campus Master Plan 

DATE:                     September 24, 2015 

 

The University of Central Florida proposes a minor amendment to its 2015 Campus Master Plan 
to amend the Capital Improvements and Urban Design Elements in order to add a proposed 
expansion to building 48, the Laboratory and Environmental Support facility. This Laboratory 
and Environmental Support expansion will provide office and collaboration space to house two 
of the three Environmental Health and Safety functional groups: the Research and Environmental 
Support team and the Workplace Safety and Insurance group. The RES team, currently housed in 
Building 16, has outgrown its current space, increasing from 3.5 FTE to 13 FTE, while EH&S, 
as a whole, increased from 13.5 FTE to 30 FTE. 

This expansion will accommodate eight coordinator offices, three assistant director offices, eight 
staff cubicles, an eight-person conference room, and necessary support spaces such as one men’s 
and one women’s restroom and a mechanical and electrical room. The expansion adds 2,980 
square feet to the existing facility for an overall 9,245 square-foot Laboratory and Environmental 
Support facility. 

Expanding the Laboratory and Environmental Support facility provides the best location for the 
increased number of EH&S employees since the department operates most effectively when 
individuals are in close proximity to each other. The rest of the EH&S personnel, as well as other 
Facilities & Safety resources, are housed in adjacent Facilities & Safety buildings, making this 
an optimal location.  

Please find below an analysis of the statutory thresholds and university responses that reflect the 
nature of the amendment request as a minor amendment. The thresholds are referenced under 
section 1013.30(9), F.S. 

An amendment to a campus master plan must be reviewed and adopted under subsections (6)-(8) 
if such amendment, alone or in conjunction with other amendments, would: 

 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

35



Attachment A 

Page 2 of 2 
 

(a) Increase density or intensity of use of land on the campus by more than 10 percent; 

University Response: The proposed Laboratory and Environmental Support expansion adds 
2,980 square feet of Support Space land use to the campus.  The current campus land designated 
for Support Space is more than 2,000,000 square feet.  This constitutes a .0014% change in land 
use and therefore does not trip the 10 percent threshold for the use of land.  

(b) Decrease the amount of natural areas, open space, or buffers on the campus by more than 
10 percent:  

University Response: The proposed expansion closely wraps around the existing support facility 
and does not decrease natural areas, open space, or buffers on campus by more than 10 percent.   

(c) Rearrange land uses in a manner that will increase the impact of any proposed campus 
development by more than 10 percent on a road or on another public facility or service 
provided or maintained by the state, the county, the host local government, or any 
affected local government. 

University Response:  The proposed expansion does not rearrange land use in any way, and the 
occupants, already employed by UCF, will not generate an increase in capacity on any proposed 
campus development, road, or public facility by greater than 10 percent. Consequently, it will 
have a less than 10 percent impact on a road or service provided or maintained by the state, 
county, host local government, or any affected local government.   

In summary, the proposed expansion does not exceed the amendment threshold criteria in 
1013.30 (9), F.S. and may therefore be treated as a minor amendment. 

Thank you for your time and attention to this matter.  If you require additional information, 
please contact me at (407) 823-3893. 

 

 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

36



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

37



Attachment C USE THIS ONE Capital Improvements List 4-23-15

Attachment C

22,890 23,128 23,484 23,661 23,661 23,646 23,833 24,038 24,237 24,591
*Fund 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Type YR #1 YR #2 YR #3 YR #4 YR #5 YR #6 YR #7 YR #8 YR #9 YR #10

1 ENGINEERING BUILDING I RENOVATION PECO $13,954,277 $925,000 118,186 130,885 14,879,277
2 MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES BUILDING REMODELING AND RENOVATION PECO $9,422,105 $700,000 100,289 106,523 10,122,105
3 UTILITIES, INFRASTRUCTURE PECO $14,000,000 $14,000,000 $14,000,000 $14,000,000 $14,000,000 $14,000,000 $14,000,000 $14,000,000 $14,000,000 $14,000,000 N/A N/A 140,000,000
4 LIBRARY RENOVATION PHASE II PECO,CITF $3,500,000 $29,500,000 $3,500,000 222,387 226,506 36,500,000
5 INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH AND INCUBATOR FACILITY PECO $5,924,183 $33,852,470 $5,924,183 78,676 118,013 45,700,836
6 UCF VC CLASSROOM BUILDING PECO $7,500,000 7,500,000
7 ARTS COMPLEX PHASE II (PERFORMANCE) PECO $5,000,000 $40,000,000 $5,000,000 100,396 150,594 50,000,000
8 MILLICAN HALL RENOVATION PECO $349,418 $6,363,058 $349,418 87,742 88,680 7,061,894
9 BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION RENOVATION PECO $9,475,843 $494,001 118,624 121,074 9,969,844

10 CHEMISTRY RENOVATION PECO $539,843 $9,815,338 $539,843 43,265 49,073 10,895,024
11 FACILITIES & SAFETY COMPLEX RENOVATION PECO $4,856,238 4,856,238
12 VISUAL ARTS RENOVATION AND EXPANSION PECO $3,000,000 $24,000,000 $3,000,000 79,373 85,000 30,000,000
13 MULTI-PURPOSE RESEARCH AND EDUCATION BUILDING PECO $2,779,189 $22,235,512 $2,779,189 47,310 75,384 27,793,890
14 COLLEGE OF NURSING PECO, C $3,476,712 $27,813,698 $3,476,712 119,206 170,684 34,767,122
15 PARTNERSHIP IV PECO $2,450,000 $19,600,000 $2,450,000 78,294 117,442 24,500,000
16 HOWARD PHILLIPS HALL RENOVATION PECO $6,564,996 $652,249 56,903 64,619 7,217,245
17 COLBOURN HALL RENOVATION PECO $7,865,978 $410,075 73,500 83,957 8,276,053
18 FERRELL COMMONS (E AND G SPACE) RENOVATION PECO $6,564,996 $652,249 86,149 93,860 7,217,245
19 COLLEGE OF SCIENCES BUILDING RENOVATION PECO $317,437 $2,539,494 $317,436 49,580 54,644 3,174,367
20 REHEARSAL HALL RENOVATION PECO $48,007 $384,055 $48,006 9,322 10,743 480,068
21 CLASSROOM BUILDING III PECO $2,400,000 $19,200,000 $2,400,000 53,332 79,998 24,000,000
22 FACILITIES BUILDING AT LAKE NONA B,P $600,000 $4,800,000 $600,000 13,866 20,799 6,000,000
23 RECYCLING CENTER PECO $2,300,000 $18,400,000 $2,300,000 26,666 40,000 23,000,000
24 HUMANITIES AND FINE ARTS II (Phase I) PECO $2,772,353 $17,060,631 $2,772,353 58,362 87,543 22,605,337
25 SIMULATION AND TRAINING BUILDING PECO $2,370,336 $18,410,374 $2,370,336 39,950 59,924 23,151,046
26 BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION III BUILDING PECO $1,584,527 $12,307,012 $1,584,527 41,118 61,677 15,476,066
27 EDUCATION BUILDING II PECO $2,062,318 $15,594,083 $2,062,318 51,479 77,219 19,718,719
28 BAND BUILDING PECO $455,045 $2,800,279 $455,045 10,024 13,529 3,710,369
29 ARTS COMPLEX PHASE III PECO $1,210,857 $7,627,447 $1,210,857 25,447 38,171 10,049,161
30 SOCIAL SCIENCES FACILITY PECO 0
31 COASTAL BIOLOGY STATION PECO $2,500,000 2,500,000
32 INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH BUILDING II PECO $2,370,336 $17,330,596 $2,370,336 40,543 60,815 22,071,268
33 CENTER FOR EMERGING MEDIA BUILD OUT PECO $6,360,339 16,544 24,816 6,360,339
34 ROSEN STORAGE SHED P $225,000 225,000
35 ROSEN EDUCATIONAL FACILITY P $17,000,000 17,000,000
36 TEMPORARY ATHLETICS FOOTBALL GAME DAY PARKING O $50,000 50,000
37 PEGASUS HEALTH EXPANSION P, B $10,000,000 10,000,000
38 HUMANITIES AND FINE ARTS II (Phase II) PECO $1,107,260 $8,600,076 $1,107,260 27,364 41,045 10,814,596
39 PARTNERSHIP CAMPUS PECO N/A N/A 0
40 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT RESERVE PECO N/A N/A 0
41 SUSTAINABILITY CENTER (Phase I) PECO, C $5,000,000 5,000 7,500 5,000,000
42 CIVIL AND ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING PECO, C $1,160,667 $14,508,333 $1,741,000 50,000 75,000 17,410,000
43 SUSTAINABILITY CENTER (Phase II) PECO, C $5,000,000 5,000 7,500 5,000,000
44 LABORATORY AND ENVIRONMENTAL SUPPORT EXPANSION O $1,800,000 1,800,000
45 CREATIVE VILLAGE GARAGE  P,B $15,000,000 15,000,000
46 SPECIAL PURPOSE HOUSING AND PARKING GARAGE I P, B $25,000,000 106,667 160,000 25,000,000
47 SPECIAL PURPOSE HOUSING II P, B $8,000,000 21,333 32,000 8,000,000
48 PARKING DECKS P, B $17,000,000 112,000 168,000 17,000,000
49 GRADUATE HOUSING P, B $50,000,000 100,000 150,000 50,000,000
50 REFINANCE UCF FOUNDATION PROPERTIES P, B $37,410,000 288,167 432,250 37,410,000
51 STUDENT HOUSING P, B $50,000,000 149,333 224,000 50,000,000
52 GARAGE EXPANSION P, B $5,000,000 33,891 50,837 5,000,000
53 CLASSROOM AND LAB BUILDING, LAKE NONA P, B $23,475,601 60,976 91,464 23,475,601
54 FACILITIES BUILDING AT LAKE NONA P, B $6,000,000 13,866 20,799 6,000,000
55 EXPO CENTER HOUSING P, B $16,000,000 68,667 103,000 16,000,000
56 REGIONAL CAMPUSES MULTI-PURPOSE BUILDINGS P, B $28,000,000 40,000 60,000 28,000,000
57 PARTNERSHIP GARAGE P, B $7,000,000 994,900 7,000,000
58 PARKING DECK (ATHLETIC COMPLEX) P, B $5,000,000 112,000 168,000 5,000,000
59 BASEBALL STADIUM EXPANSION PHASE II P, B $4,500,000 3,800 5,700 4,500,000
60 BASEBALL CLUB HOUSE EXPANSION AND RENOVATION P, B $1,000,000 1,000,000
61 BRIGHTHOUSE NETWORKS STADIUM EXPANSION PHASE I- SEATING P, B $11,000,000 N/A N/A 11,000,000
62 WAYNE DENSCH SPORTS CENTER EXPANSION AND RENOVATION P, B $1,000,000 12,000 18,000 1,000,000
63 TENNIS COMPLEX PHASE I P, B $1,400,000 4,980 7,470 1,400,000
64 TENNIS COMPLEX PHASE II P, B $1,000,000 1,000,000
65 TENNIS COMPLEX PHASE III P, B $2,000,000 2,000,000
66 MULTI-PURPOSE MEDICAL RESEARCH AND INCUBATOR FACILITY P, B $112,863,923 112,863,923
67 HEALTH SCIENCES CAMPUS PARKING GARAGE I P, B $15,000,000 15,000,000
68 BIO-MEDICAL ANNEX RENOVATION AND EXPANSION P, B $12,800,000 12,800,000
69 OUTPATIENT CENTER P, B $75,000,000 75,000,000
70 DENTAL SCHOOL P, B $73,000,000 73,000,000
71 INFRASTRUCTURE AND SITEWORK LAKE NONA CLINICAL FACILITIES P, B $10,000,000 10,000,000
72 STRATEGIC LAND AND PROPERTY P, B $100,000,000 N/A N/A 100,000,000
73 BRIGHTHOUSE NETWORKS STADIUM TOWER EXPANSION P, B $5,000,000 14,225 21,337 5,000,000
74 TRACK AND SOCCER CLUB HOUSE P, B $850,000 2,800 4,200 850,000
75 SOFTBALL PRACTICE FIELD P,B $250,000 N/A N/A 250,000
76 ATHLETICS PRACTICE FIELD P, B $500,000 N/A N/A 500,000
77 WOMENS COMPETITION AND PRACTICE FIELD P, B $2,000,000 N/A N/A 2,000,000
78 BASEBALL PRACTICE FIELD P, B $400,000 N/A N/A 400,000
79 BASKETBALL PRACTICE FACILITY P, B $12,000,000 32,000 48,000 12,000,000
80 RECREATION AND WELLNESS CENTER PHASE III P, B $20,000,000 5,200 7,800 20,000,000
81 LIFE SCIENCES INCUBATOR, LAKE NONA P, B $30,000,000 36,667 55,000 30,000,000
82 EAST ATHLETICS CENTER P, B $15,000,000 11,706 17,559 15,000,000
83 CARACOL in BELIZE C $350,000 49,570 72,555 350,000
84 BURNETT BIO-MEDICAL SCIENCE CENTER INFRASTRUCTURE C $7,500,000 6,271 9,407 7,500,000
85 ORLANDO REPERTORY THEATRE III RENOVATIONS C $75,000 $75,000 $75,000 8,000 12,000 225,000
86 RESEARCH LAB, LAKE NONA C, P, B $6,412,845 $97,268,758 $9,180,000 132,018 198,027 112,861,603
87 [NOT USED} 0
88 HOTEL AND CONFERENCE CENTER P $60,000,000 190,000 250,000 60,000,000
89 PARKING GARAGE VII B $20,000,000 242,667 364,000 20,000,000
90 LIBRARY EXPANSION CITF, P $44,114,399 $40,471,926 $40,471,926 109,703 164,554 125,058,251
91 LAKE CLAIRE RENOVATION CITF $3,000,000 100,000 150,000 3,000,000
92 CREATIVE SCHOOL FOR CHILDREN CITF $6,000,000 25,000 37,500 6,000,000
93 STUDENT UNION II (Phase I) CITF $14,000,000 37,800 56,700 14,000,000
94 STUDENT UNION II (Phase II) CITF $6,000,000 17,000 25,500 6,000,000
95 STUDENT UNION II (Phase III) CITF $21,000,000 60,000 90,000 21,000,000
96 RWC PARK PHASE IV CITF $5,000,000 32,000 32,000 5,000,000

Funding sources denote probable building completion year *Fund Types: 

Projects in green denote projects planned off-campus. PECO (Public Education Capital Outlay), C (Courtelis), P (Private),      

Projects in blue denote renovation and/or remodeling projects B (Bond), CITF (Capital Improvement Trust Fund), O (Other)

Total Estimated 
Cost ($M)

   

PROJECT LIST 2015 -25                                                                                                                                                
Revised  04/23/2015

MAIN CAMPUS FTE

Gross

Off Campus Sq. Ft.

Net

 TOTAL  New Campus Sq. Ft.

UNIVERSITY OF CENTRAL FLORIDA

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS LIST  

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

38



7

8

4
2

9
1 5

44

36

28

15

1123

96
51

49

80

27
1388

47
46

91

29 12

24
38

17 20

16
90

10

18 92

26
19

93 95
94

52
43
41

32
4225

30
8921

39

76
63

6564757782
62

79

60 59
78

73
6174

58
48

´ All maps are diagrammatic and conceptual.  The various areas shown
are approximate and not to survey accuracy.  The intent of these maps
is to illustrate general areas of existing or potential use.

Figure 3-1

Urban Design and Capital Improvements

0 2,000 4,0001,000
Feet

Comprehensive Master Plan Update
University of Central Florida
Orlando, Florida
2015-2025

Rev. 20150506

Legend
2015 Capital Improvements List Item

Existing Buildings

Boundary

Off-Campus Facilities

6, 14, 22, 31, 33, 34, 35, 
37, 45, 50, 53, 54, 55, 
56, 57, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70,
71, 72, 81, 83, 84, 85, 86

To locate buildings on map, refer to
Element 14: Capital Improvements List

Attachment D
Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

39



 

ITEM:  FFC-4 
 
 

University of Central Florida 
Board of Trustees 

Finance and Facilities Committee 
 
 

SUBJECT: Refinancing of UCF Stadium Corporation Certificates of Participation 
Series 2006A and B 

 
DATE:  September 24, 2015  
 

 
PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
Pursuant to the attached draft resolution, the UCF Stadium Corporation, formerly known 
as Golden Knights Corporation, is requesting approval to refinance the outstanding 
certificates of participation Series 2006A and 2006B.  
 
The refunding of the Series 2006A certificates, which bear interest at a tax-exempt rate, is 
being undertaken to achieve debt service savings. The refunding of the variable-rate 
Series 2006B certificates, which bear interest at a taxable rate, are being converted to 
fixed-rate. Conversion from variable-rate to fixed-rate is permitted under the BOG debt 
management guidelines. Cash currently on deposit in the debt service reserve fund for the 
certificates will be used to refund a portion of the certificates.  
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
In 2006, the corporation issued $64,535,000 in certificates of participation to finance the 
construction of the football stadium. The project is operated and managed by the UCF 
Athletics Association, which has pledged additional revenues to strengthen the credit. In 
the event the debt-service coverage falls below 1.20 times, the university has agreed to 
support the cost of the project’s utilities. Furthermore, if the debt-service reserve fund is 
drawn upon, the university agrees to replenish the amount from legally available 
revenues. The support agreement is being amended to clarify the university’s obligations.  
 
At the time the certificates are paid, the master-lease purchase agreement and the ground 
lease between the corporation and the Golden Knights Property Corporation will 
terminate. Therefore, at the time the revenue bonds are issued, the university will 
document the relationship between the university and the UCF Stadium Corporation, 
granting the corporation the right to pledge the revenues from the stadium to the bond 
trustee. The project will continue to be managed by the UCF Athletics Association 
pursuant to an amended and restated management agreement. 
 
The outstanding principal on the certificates is currently $50,890,000.  
 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

40



 

 
Supporting documentation:   Draft Board of Trustees Resolution (Attachment A)   

  First Amendment to the Support Agreement  
     (Attachment B) 
  Operating Agreement (Attachment C) 

      
Prepared by:   John C. Pittman, Associate Vice President for Administration and  

   Finance, Debt Management 
 
Submitted by:  William F. Merck II, Vice President for Administration and Finance  

   and Chief Financial Officer 
 
 

 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

41



25102/022/01039426.DOCv3

1

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE BY THE 
UCF STADIUM CORPORATION OF ITS REFUNDING 
REVENUE BONDS FOR THE PURPOSE OF REFUNDING 
CERTAIN OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS; APPROVING 
THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO SUPPORT AGREEMENT
AND AN OPERATING AGREEMENT IN CONNECTION 
WITH THE ISSUANCE BY THE UCF STADIUM 
CORPORATION OF ITS REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS;
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, previously, the Golden Knights Corporation, now known as the UCF Stadium 

Corporation (the “Corporation”) financed the construction of the football stadium (the “Football 

Stadium”) with proceeds of its Certificates of Participation (Golden Knights Corporation Master 

Lease Program), Series 2006A Evidencing an Undivided Proportionate Interest of the Owners 

thereof in Basic Rent Payments to be made under a Master Lease-Purchase Agreement by the

Golden Knights Corporation (the “Series 2006A Certificates”) and the Taxable Certificates of 

Participation (Golden Knights Corporation Master Lease Program), Series 2006B Evidencing an 

Undivided Proportionate Interest of the Owners thereof in Basic Rent Payments to be made under a

Master Lease-Purchase Agreement by the Golden Knights Corporation (the “Series 2006B 

Certificates” and together with the Series 2006A Certificates, the “Series 2006 Certificates”); and 

WHEREAS, the Corporation has heretofore determined that due to lower interest rates and 

the opportunity to realize debt service savings by refunding the Series 2006 Certificates and 

converting the Series 2006B Certificates from a variable rate to a fixed rate, the most appropriate 

way of refinancing the Series 2006 Certificates is to issue its Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 

2015A (the “Series 2015A Bonds”) and its Taxable Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2015B (the 

“Series 2015B Bonds” and together with the Series 2015A Bonds, the “Series 2015 Bonds”) pursuant 

to the terms of a Trust Indenture, (the “Indenture”) by and between the Corporation and the trustee 

named therein, (the “Trustee”); and

WHEREAS, the Golden Knights Corporation previously issued is Series 2014 Certificates of 

Participation (Golden Knights Corporation Master Lease Program), Series 2014 Evidencing an 

Undivided Proportionate Interest of the Owners thereof in Basic Rent Payments to be made under a 

Master Lease-Purchase Agreement by the Golden Knights Corporation (the “Series 2014 

Certificates”) pursuant to a bank loan; and

WHEREAS, upon refunding of the Series 2006 Certificates, the Series 2014 Certificates will 

be exchanged for a Series 2015C Bond and remain on parity with the Series 2015 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the University of Central Florida Board of Trustee’s (the “Board’s”)

debt management guidelines, the Board is required to approve the issuance of debt by the 

Corporation; and

WHEREAS, payments due under the Series 2006 Certificates are currently secured by, 

among other things, payments to be made by the University of Central Florida (the “University”) 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

42



25102/022/01039426.DOCv3

2

pursuant to that certain Support Agreement (Football Stadium Financing), dated as of August 1, 

2006 between the Corporation, the University and the Golden Knights Property Corporation (the 

“Support Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the Corporation has requested that the University enter into that certain First 

Amendment to Support Agreement (Football Stadium Financing) (the “First Amendment”) to 

clarify that the Board’s obligations cover not only the Series 2006 Certificates but include obligations 

issued to refund the Series 2006 Certificates which includes the Series 2015 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, upon the refinancing of the Series 2006 Certificates the Board desires that the 

UCF Athletics Association, Inc. (the “Association”) to continue to operate the Football Stadium and 

has requested that the Board enter into an Operating Agreement by and among the Board, the 

Corporation, and the Association and to provide for, among other things, operation of the Football 

Stadium by the Association; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the University of Central Florida Board of 

Trustees:

Section 1. The aforementioned Recitals are incorporated herein by reference and made a 

part hereof.

Section 2. The First Amendment and the Operating Agreement (collectively, the 

“University Documents”), in substantially the forms presented to the Board at this meeting, are

hereby authorized and approved.

Section 3 The President of the University or the Vice President for Administration and 

Finance, or their respective designee, are both hereby authorized to execute the University 

Documents and deliver them to the Corporation.

Section 4. The Board hereby approves the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds for the 

purpose of refinancing the Series 2006 Certificates.

Section 5. The President and the Vice President for Administration and Finance are 

hereby authorized to take all actions and steps, to execute all instruments, documents, and 

contracts, and to take all other actions as they may deem necessary or desirable, consistent with this 

resolution and in connection with the delivery of the University Documents and refunding of the 

Series 2006 Certificates and the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds.  

Section 6. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.

Adopted this ________ day of September, 2015.

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

43



25102/022/01039443.DOCv3

1

FIRST AMENDMENT TO SUPPORT AGREEMENT
(Football Stadium Financing)

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO SUPPORT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made 
and entered into as of the 1st day of December, 2015 by and between THE UNIVERSITY OF 
CENTRAL FLORIDA BOARD OF TRUSTEES, a public body corporate, (the “University”)
and the UCF STADIUM CORPORATION, formerly known as the Golden Knights 
Corporation, a not-for-profit Florida corporation and certified as a direct support organization 
of the University (“Stadium Corporation”).

WHEREAS, the University previously entered into that certain Ground Lease
Agreement dated as of August 1, 2006 (the “Ground Lease”), pursuant to which the University, 
among other things, leased to Golden Knights Property Corporation (“GKPC”) certain real 
property described in the Ground Lease (the “Property”); and

WHEREAS, the Golden Knights Corporation and the GKPC entered into a Master 
Lease-Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2006 (the “Master Lease”), between GKPC, 
as Lessor, and the Golden Knights Corporation, as Lessee; and

WHEREAS, the Golden Knights Corporation issued its Certificates of Participation 
(Golden Knights Corporation Master Lease Program), Series 2006A Evidencing an Undivided 
Proportionate Interest of the Owners thereof in Basic Rent Payments to be made under a
Master Lease-Purchase Agreement by the Golden Knights Corporation (the “Series 2006A 
Certificates”) and the Taxable Certificates of Participation (Golden Knights Corporation Master 
Lease Program), Series 2006B Evidencing an Undivided Proportionate Interest of the Owners 
thereof in Basic Rent Payments to be made under a Master Lease-Purchase Agreement by the
Golden Knights Corporation (the “Series 2006B Certificates” and together with the Series 
2006A Certificates, the “Series 2006 Certificates”), the proceeds of which were used to finance 
the costs of the acquisition, construction and installation of a football stadium (the “Football 
Stadium”); and

WHEREAS, the University, the Golden Knights Corporation and GKPC previously 
entered into that certain Support Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2006 whereby the 
University agreed to provide certain financial and other support in connection with the Series 
2006 Certificates (the “Original Support Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Stadium Corporation now desires to prepay and refund all of the Series 
2006 Certificates by issuing its UCF Stadium Corporation Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 
2015A (the “Series 2015A Bonds”) and its UCF Stadium Corporation Taxable Refunding 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2015B (the “Series 2015B Bonds” and together with the Series 2015A 
Bonds, the “Series 2015 Bonds”) pursuant to the terms and provisions of the Trust Indenture
dated as of July 1, 2015 (the “Indenture”) between the Stadium Corporation and
[_______________], as trustee (the “Trustee”); and

WHEREAS, in order to facilitate a reduction in the overall cost of borrowing by the 
Stadium Corporation in connection with the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds, the University 
has agreed to continue to provide certain financial support, utilities, and other services as 

Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

44



25102/022/01039443.DOCv3

2

provided in the Original Support Agreement for the benefit of the Stadium Corporation the 
holders of the Series 2015 Bonds and any Reserve Product Provider for the Series 2015 Bonds 
and any Additional Bonds issued as refunding bonds for the Series 2015 Bonds under Section 
2.14 of the Indenture, all as set forth hereinafter; and

WHEREAS, the Stadium Corporation and the University now desire to amend certain 
provisions of the Original Support Agreement as provided herein to clarify and confirm that 
the terms and conditions set forth therein apply to the Series 2015 Bonds.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and the mutual 
covenants and agreements set forth hereinafter, the sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
RECITALS AND DEFINITIONS

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed 
thereto in the Original Support Agreement and the Indenture, as now and hereafter amended, 
modified or supplemented.

ARTICLE II
AMENDMENTS

SECTION 2.01 Section 2.01 of the Original Support Agreement is amended and restated 
in its entirety as follows:

“UTILITIES.  As long as the Series 2015 Bonds remain Outstanding pursuant to the 
Indenture, the University hereby agrees to provide and deliver to the Football Stadium, to the 
boundary line of the Property, potable water, sewer, electricity, chilled water for air 
conditioning, telephone lines, telecommunications, cable, data, and such other utilities as are 
made available by the University, or provided by the University, to other University facilities, 
projects or properties on the University campus, for so long as and to the extent that the 
University provides the same to other University facilities, projects or properties on the 
University campus. The University also agrees to provide exterior garbage collection and 
removal services to the Football Stadium.  Additionally, the University agrees to provide storm 
water retention and detention as reasonably necessary to support the Property and the Football 
Stadium.”

SECTION 2.02 Section 2.02 of the Original Support Agreement is amended and restated 
in its entirety as follows:

“FINANCIAL SUPPORT.  Pursuant to the Indenture, the Trustee established a Debt 
Service Reserve Fund for the Series 2015 Bonds.  The University agrees and covenants to 
transfer to the Trustee funds in an amount equal to the Deficiency Amount (defined below) as 
limited below, in the event the Trustee notifies the University that amounts (a) have been 
drawn from the Series 2015 Subaccount of the Debt Service Reserve Fund and used to pay the 
principal of or interest on the Series 2015 Bonds and/or (b) have been paid under or in 

Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

45



25102/022/01039443.DOCv3

3

connection with a municipal bond debt service reserve insurance policy (the “Reserve 
Product”) securing the Series 2015 Bonds in respect of principal of or interest on such Series 
2015 Bonds (such amounts paid, interest thereon and any fees and expenses of the Reserve 
Product Provider in connection therewith being "Deficiency Amounts"); provided that the 
University's Deficiency Amounts obligation shall be limited to the maximum annual debt 
service for the Series 2015 Bonds, it being understood that failure by the University to pay a 
Deficiency Amount in the year in which it was incurred will not reduce the amount payable in 
any subsequent year.  For the avoidance of doubt, the parties hereto agree that University's 
Deficiency Amount obligation hereunder in any year shall include (i) any Deficiency Amount 
incurred in the then current year up to the maximum annual debt service for the Series 2015 
Bonds with respect to the current year Deficiency Amount, plus (ii) any unpaid Deficiency 
Amount incurred in any prior year(s).

Upon receipt of notice from the Trustee as provided above and subject to the next 
paragraph, the University covenants and agrees to appropriate in its annual budget, by 
amendment, if necessary, from all Legally Available Revenues, as herein after defined, an 
amount equal to the Deficiency Amount.  Upon being appropriated, and no later than five 
Business Days prior to the debt service payment coming due, the University shall transfer to 
the Trustee, the Deficiency Amount for deposit in the Series 2015 Subaccount of the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund and/or to reimburse the Reserve Product Provider for amounts paid 
under or in connection with the Reserve Product, including, but not limited to, interest on 
amounts drawn, and any fees and expenses of the Reserve Product Provider as set forth in 
[Section 5.07 of the Indenture].  Such covenant and agreement on the part of the University to 
budget and appropriate such amounts of Legally Available Revenues shall be absolute and 
unconditional, free from deductions and without any offset, recoupment, diminution or set-off 
whatsoever.  In addition, such covenant and agreement on the part of the University to budget 
and appropriate such amounts of Legally Available Revenues shall be cumulative to the extent 
not paid to the Trustee, and a continuing obligation until such Legally Available Revenues are 
appropriated and paid to the Trustee in amounts sufficient to pay the Deficiency Amount
and/or to reimburse the Reserve Product Provider for amounts paid under or in connection 
with the Reserve Product, including, but not limited to, interest on amounts drawn, and any 
fees and expenses of the Reserve Product Provider, subject to the limitation described in the 
immediately preceding paragraph.  No lien upon or pledge of such budgeted Legally Available
Revenues shall be in effect until such monies are budgeted, appropriated and deposited into 
the Series 2015 Subaccount Debt Service Reserve Fund.  The University further acknowledges 
and agrees that the obligations of the University to include Deficiency Amounts in each of its 
annual budgets and to pay such Deficiency Amounts from Legally Available Revenues may be 
enforced in a court of competent jurisdiction in accordance with the remedies set forth herein.

Such covenant to budget and appropriate does not preclude the University from 
pledging in the future its Legally Available Revenues, nor does it require the University to levy 
and collect any particular Legally Available Revenues, nor does it give the holder of the Series 
2015 Bonds a prior claim on the Legally Available Revenues as opposed to claims of general 
creditors of the University.  Such covenant to budget and appropriate Legally Available
Revenues is subject in all respects to the prior payment of obligations secured by a pledge of 
certain auxiliary enterprise funds, indirect cost reimbursement and investment earnings 
comprising Legally Available Revenues heretofore or hereafter entered into (including the 
payment of debt service on bonds and other debt instruments).  Anything in this Agreement to 
the contrary notwithstanding, it is understood and agreed that all obligations of the University
hereunder shall be payable from the portion of Legally Available Revenues budgeted and 

Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

46



25102/022/01039443.DOCv3

4

appropriated as provided for hereunder and nothing herein shall be deemed to pledge any 
funds appropriated by the State of Florida to the University or to permit or constitute a 
mortgage or lien upon any assets owned by the University or the State of Florida.  
Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, the University shall never 
be obligated to maintain or continue any of the activities of the University which generate user 
service charges, regulatory fees or any Legally Available Revenues.  Except as provided above, 
neither this Agreement nor the obligations of the University hereunder shall be construed as a 
pledge of or a lien on all or any Legally Available Revenues of the University or the State of 
Florida, but shall be payable solely as provided herein and is subject to the payment of services 
and programs which are for essential public purposes affecting the health, welfare and safety 
of the students, faculty and administration of the University.

For purposes of this Agreement, Legally Available Revenues shall initially mean those 
funds collected and deposited into the University’s various auxiliary enterprise funds, existing 
fund balances from such auxiliary enterprise funds, indirect cost reimbursement from research 
contract and grant revenues, as well as, existing fund balances from research contract and grant
enterprise funds (subject to any restrictions contained in the associated research contract or 
grant) and the investment earnings on the University’s pooled investments account [and 
amounts on deposit in the Surplus Fund established under the Indenture].  The University 
shall also include other revenues that may become legally available to the University on any 
date hereafter as Legally Available Revenues for the purpose of meeting its obligations 
hereunder.  

In determining the amount of Legally Available Revenues for the immediately prior 
Fiscal Year, the Authorized Officer shall take into account the amount by which Legally 
Available Revenues would have increased during such prior Fiscal Year if or as a result of: (i) 
any rate increase approved by the University Board of Trustees in the prior Fiscal Year shall be 
treated as if such rate increase was in effect for the entire Fiscal Year, (ii) any rate increase or 
imposition of a new rate, fee or charge approved by the University Board of Trustees in the 
prior Fiscal Year and not effective until the current Fiscal Year shall be treated as if such rate, 
fee or charge was in effect for the entire prior Fiscal Year, and (iii) revenues from rates, fees 
and charges based on enrollment may be adjusted by applying the enrollment projected for the 
current Fiscal Year on the services, charges or other deliverables for the prior Fiscal Year. “

SECTION 2.03 Section 2.03(b) of the Original Support Agreement is amended and 
restated in its entirety as follows:

“(b) It is anticipated that from time to time the University will conduct events at the 
Football Stadium and will need to provide parking for attendees of these events in surface 
parking facilities or structured parking facilities owned by the University and not otherwise 
being used by the University during such events.  The University agrees to permit the Stadium 
Corporation to use such parking facilities.  The University agrees to charge rates at the level 
and amount requested by the Stadium Corporation and agrees to remit to the Trustee, 75% of 
the revenues collected during the event (“Event Parking Revenues”), provided, however, the 
University shall not be required to transfer such Event Parking Revenues to the extent a 
shortfall exists in its required deposits under the resolution authorizing the outstanding 
Parking Facility Revenue Bonds.  Event Parking Revenues do not include hang tag revenues, 
parking meter revenues or other fees and charges collected by the University for use of such 
parking facilities during normal operating hours.”

Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

47



25102/022/01039443.DOCv3

5

SECTION 2.04 Section 3.02 of the Original Support Agreement is amended and restated 
in its entirety as follows:

“WAIVER OR DEFERRAL OF CHARGES.  The University hereby agrees, to the 
extent permitted by law, that in the event [System Revenues] available to pay debt service on 
the Series 2015 Bonds is expected to be less than 1.20 times the debt service payments for the 
succeeding Fiscal Year, based on the annual budget of the Football Stadium, prepared by the 
Stadium Corporation in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture, the University shall 
defer collecting from the Stadium Corporation any amount for all operating and maintenance 
expenditures until such time as the [System Revenues] available for debt service on the Series 
2015 Bonds based on the current annual budget, as amended, is no less than 1.20 times debt 
service payments for the succeeding Fiscal Year.  Any charges deferred or paid pursuant to this 
provision may be reimbursed to the University from any amounts subsequently available in 
the Surplus Fund.”  

SECTION 2.05 Article  XV “THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARY” is amended and restated 
in its entirety as follows:

“The Reserve Product Provider is a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement, provided 
the Reserve Product Provider is not in default of its obligations under the Reserve Product and 
no amendment to this Agreement will be valid or binding without the prior written consent of 
the Reserve Product Provider.”

SECTION 2.06 Article XVI of the Original Support Agreement is amended and restated 
in its entirety as follows:

“TERM OF AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall terminate at such time as the 
Series 2015 Bonds or any Additional Bonds issued as refunding Bonds under the Indenture are 
no longer be Outstanding under the provisions of the Indenture and all obligations hereunder 
have been satisfied.”

SECTION 2.07 All references to the Series 2006 Certificates in Articles II through XVI of 
the Original Support Agreement are deemed to mean the Series 2015 Bonds and all references 
to “GKC” are deemed to mean the Stadium Corporation. 

ARTICLE III
COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be 
regarded for all purposes as an original, and such counterparts shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument.

ARTICLE IV
ORIGINAL SUPPORT AGREEMENT

Except as amended and modified herein, the Original Support Agreement shall remain 
in full force and effect.

Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

48



25102/022/01039443.DOCv3

6

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the University and the Stadium Corporation have caused this 
Agreement to be executed as of the day and year first above written.

Signed, sealed and delivered
in the presence of:

_________________________________
Print Name: _____________________

_________________________________
Print Name: _____________________

UNIVERSITY OF CENTRAL FLORIDA, 
on behalf of its Board of Trustees

By: ________________________________
Name: Dr. John C. Hitt
Title: President

_________________________________
Print Name: _____________________

_________________________________
Print Name: _____________________

UCF STADIUM CORPORATION,  
a not-for-profit Florida corporation

By: _______________________________
Name:
Title:

Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

49



25102/022/01039445.DOCv2

OPERATING AGREEMENT

THIS OPERATING AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), effective as of the 1st day of 
December, 2015, is between The University of Central Florida Board of Trustees (the 
“University”) a public body corporate of the State of Florida and the UCF Stadium Corporation
(the “Corporation”) a Florida not-for-profit corporation and certified as a direct support 
organization of the University.

W I T N E S S E T H:

Previously, the University granted the Corporation an interest in certain property 
pursuant to a ground lease agreement (the “Ground Lease”) upon which the Corporation 
constructed the Football Stadium (the “Football Stadium”) with the proceeds of the Certificates 
of Participation (Golden Knights Corporation Master Lease Program), Series 2006A Evidencing 
an Undivided Proportionate Interest of the Owners thereof in Basic Rent Payments to be made 
under a Master Lease-Purchase Agreement by the Golden Knights Corporation (the “Series 
2006A Certificates”) and the Taxable Certificates of Participation (Golden Knights Corporation 
Master Lease Program), Series 2006B Evidencing an Undivided Proportionate Interest of the 
Owners thereof in Basic Rent Payments to be made under a Master Lease-Purchase Agreement 
by the Golden Knights Corporation (the “Series 2006B Certificates” and together with the 
Series 2006A Certificates, the “Series 2006 Certificates”).

Pursuant to the provisions of the Master Lease Purchase Agreement, the Corporation 
had covenanted to operate and maintain the Football Stadium.

The Corporation now desires to refinance the Series 2006 Certificates through the 
issuance of its UCF Stadium Corporation Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2015A (the “Series 
2015A Bonds”) and its UCF Stadium Corporation Taxable Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 
2015B (the “Series 2015B Bonds” and together with the Series 2015A Bonds, the “Series 2015 
Bonds”) pursuant to a Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2015 (the “Indenture”) by and 
between the Corporation and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (the
“Trustee”).

Upon prepayment in full of the Series 2006 Certificates, the Ground Lease and the 
Master Lease will terminate and the ownership of the Football Stadium will revert to the
University by operation of law; however the University desires the Corporation continue to 
operate and maintain the Football Stadium and pledge revenues generated by and through 
such operation to secure the Series 2015 Bonds.

The UCF Athletics Association, Inc. (the “Association”) will manage the Football 
Stadium on behalf of the Corporation and deposit certain revenues of the Football Stadium 
with the Trustee pursuant to the terms of that certain Amended and Restated Management and 
Use Agreement (Football Stadium) by and between the Corporation and the Association, as 
Manager, dated as of December 1, 2015 (the “Management Agreement”). 

Attachment C

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

50



25102/022/01039445.DOCv2

2

Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in the Indenture.

In consideration of the premises, and of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth 
below, the Corporation and the University enter into this Agreement upon the following terms 
and conditions:

1. Description of the Property.  The Football Stadium is located on the main 
campus of the University in Orlando, Florida.

2. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be for a term of [__] years but in no 
event shall this Agreement be terminated prior to the time that all Bonds, and all other 
amounts due under the Indenture have been paid in full (the “Term”).  The Corporation agrees 
to operate the Football Stadium as provided herein and the University agrees to make the 
payments (as described below) to the Corporation and the Trustee, as assignee.

3. Payments by the University.  The University agrees to pay to the Corporation 
$[_______] received from, including, but not limited to, game day and football season ticket 
sales, Concession Revenues and a percentage of merchandise sales calculated based on 
[_________].

4. Financial Statements.  The Corporation shall cause to be delivered to the 
University and the Trustee, so long as Bonds remain Outstanding, within the meaning of the 
Indenture, audited annual financial reports of the Corporation prepared by certified 
independent auditors.  Such annual reports shall be prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards and on an accrual basis and shall be filed with the University no 
later than 10 days following the receipt by the Corporation of such reports.

In addition the Corporation shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Trustee:

(i) the annual budget (the “Annual Budget”) within 30 days following 
adoption of such budget by the University; 

(ii) concurrently with the delivery of the audited financial statements 
referred to above, a compliance certificate signed by the Corporation’s President or its 
designee, demonstrating compliance or lack thereof with the provisions of this 
Agreement and indicating whether an Event of Default has occurred under the 
Indenture and, if so, what actions the Corporation proposes to take to cure such Event 
of Default; and

(iii) with reasonable promptness, such other financial data relating to the 
Corporation and the Football Stadium as the University or the Trustee may reasonably 
request in writing.

5. Management of Football Stadium.  The parties agree that the Association shall 
be solely responsible for management of the Football Stadium pursuant to the terms of the 
Management Agreement  The University hereby assigns its rights, title and interests in the 
Pledged Revenues to the Corporation for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds issued under 
the Indenture, including the Series 2015 Bonds.  The University agrees and grants the 
Corporation the right to pledge the Pledged Revenues to secure repayment of the Bonds.

Attachment C

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

51



25102/022/01039445.DOCv2

3

6. Maintenance of Improvements.  The Corporation shall cause the Association to 
maintain the Football Stadium in good condition and repair in accordance with the terms of the 
Management Agreement.  

7. Liability/Insurance.  The Corporation assumes any and all risks of personal 
injury and property damage attributable to the negligent acts or omissions of the Corporation
and its officers, employees, servants, and agents thereof while acting within the scope of their 
agency or employment with the Corporation; provided, however, the parties acknowledge that 
the Association shall maintain insurance coverage as provided in the Management Agreement.
The Corporation and the University agree that nothing contained herein shall be construed or 
interpreted as (1) denying to either party any remedy or defense available to such party under 
the laws of the State of Florida; (2) the consent of the State of Florida or its agents and agencies 
to be sued; or (3) a waiver of sovereign immunity of the State Florida beyond the waiver 
provided in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes. In addition, the Corporation shall maintain 
liability and property coverage in an amount required by its risk management policies during 
the term of this Agreement.

8. Prohibitions Against Liens.  Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture each 
of the Corporation and the University hereby covenant and agree that it will not grant any 
liens, charges, encumbrances or assignments on the Pledged Revenues.  The Corporation and 
the University shall cause any liens, charges, encumbrances or assignments placed upon the 
Pledged Revenues not otherwise permitted herein to be immediately removed upon request of 
the University, the Corporation or the Trustee. 

9. Notices.  All notices given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be 
served by certified mail to the last address of the party to whom notice is to be given, as 
designated by such party in writing.  The Corporation and the University hereby designate 
their address as follows:

The University:

University of Central Florida
4000 Central Florida Blvd.
Orlando, Florida  32816
Attention: William F. Merck, II, Vice President, 

              Administration and Finance

with a required copy to:

University of Central Florida
4000 Central Florida Blvd.
Orlando, Florida  32816
Attention: General Counsel

Attachment C

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

52



25102/022/01039445.DOCv2

4

The Corporation:

University of Central Florida
4000 Central Florida Blvd.
Orlando, Florida  32816
Attention: William F. Merck, II 

Secretary/Treasurer

with a required copy to:

University of Central Florida
4000 Central Florida Blvd.
Orlando, Florida  32816
Attention: General Counsel

10. Inspection.  The University shall have the right, at any and all reasonable times, 
to enter upon the Football Stadium for the purpose of making inspections to determine 
whether the Corporation is complying with the terms of this Agreement.  

11. Non-Discrimination.  The Corporation shall not discriminate against any 
individual because of that individual's race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, 
or marital status with respect to any activity occurring within the Football Stadium.

12. Governing Law/Venue.  This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted 
according to the laws of the State of Florida.  Venue for any litigation arising from matters 
relating to this Agreement shall be in Orange County, Florida.

13. Time of Essence.  Time is expressly declared to be of the essence of this 
Agreement.

14. Binding Effect and Inurnment.  This Agreement shall be binding on and shall 
inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the parties hereto, but nothing contained in 
this paragraph shall be construed as consent by the University to any assignment of this 
Agreement or any interest therein by the Football Stadium except to the Trustee under the 
Indenture.  The Trustee is recognized as and shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of 
this Agreement and may enforce the provisions of this Agreement as if it were a party hereto.

15. Duplicate Originals.  This Agreement is executed in duplicate originals each of 
which shall be considered an original for all purposes.

16. Partial Invalidity.  If any term, covenant, condition or provision of this 
Agreement shall be ruled by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or 
unenforceable, the remainder shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be 
affected, impaired or invalidated.

17. Entire Understanding.  This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding 
between the parties and shall only be amended with the prior written approval of the parties 
hereto.

Attachment C

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

53



25102/022/01039445.DOCv2

5

18. Section Captions.  Articles, subsections and other captions contained in this 
Agreement are for reference purposes only and are in no way intended to describe, interpret, 
define or limit the scope, extent or intent of this Agreement or any provisions thereof.

19. Assignment.  This Agreement shall not be assigned by the Corporation or 
University in whole or in part without the prior written consent of the University.  Any 
assignment made either in whole or in part without the prior written consent of the University
shall be void and without legal effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation may 
assign or pledge this Agreement to the Trustee as security for the Series 2015 Bonds issued to 
prepay and refund the Series 2006 Certificates.

20. No Waiver of Breach. The failure of the University to insist in any one or more 
instances upon strict performance of any one or more of the covenants, terms and conditions of 
this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of such covenants, terms and conditions, and 
the same shall continue in full force and effect, and no waiver of the University of any of the 
provisions hereof shall in any event be deemed to have been made unless the waiver is set 
forth in writing, signed by the University.

21. Damage to Football Stadium. If any damage to the Football Stadium results 
from any act or negligence of Corporation, the University may at the University’s option repair 
such damage, and the Corporation will thereupon reimburse to the University the total cost of 
such repairs and damages to the Football Stadium to the extent allowed by law; provided, 
however, that the University waives any right of action against the Corporation for any loss or 
damage to the Football Stadium resulting from fire or other casualty by such act or negligence 
if the University’s insurance policy covers such loss or damage and permits such a waiver and 
the University actually receives reimbursement for such loss or damage pursuant to such 
insurance policy.

22. Obligations Limited.  The Corporation’s obligation hereunder does not 
constitute a debt, liability or general obligation of the Corporation, the University, the State or 
any political subdivision of the State, or a pledge of the faith and credit or taxing power of the 
Corporation, the University, or the State or any political subdivision of the State.  Neither the 
Corporation nor the State shall be obligated or required to levy any ad valorem taxes on any 
property to pay the principal, premium, if any, or interest on the Series 2015 Bonds or to make 
payments under this Agreement except from the Pledged Revenues pledged for the payment 
thereof, in the manner and on the conditions contained in the Indenture.  Neither the Series 
2015 Bonds nor this Agreement shall constitute or create a lien upon property owned by the 
Corporation or the University or situated within the territorial limits of the State of Florida.

Attachment C

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

54



25102/022/01039445.DOCv2

6

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the 
date and year first written above.

UCF STADIUM CORPORATION, a Florida 
not for profit corporation

By:__________________________________
Name:
Title:

THE UNIVERSITY OF CENTRAL FLORIDA 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES, a public body 
corporate

By:__________________________________
Name: William F. Merck, II
Title: Vice President for Administration

and Finance

Attachment C

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

55



FFC-5 
 
 
 

University of Central Florida 
Board of Trustees 

Finance and Facilities Committee 
 
 
SUBJECT: Acquisition of Partnership IV Facility From Leidos and Cowperwood 
 
DATE: September 24, 2015 
 
 

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 
 
Approve the purchase and sale agreements and subsequent acquisition of the property located at 
12809 Science Drive, Orlando, Florida, for the Partnership IV facility to further enhance the 
government modeling and simulation technology expansion, subject to satisfactory due diligence 
investigation and completed conditions contained within the agreements. 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The University of Central Florida received a $20 million appropriation from this legislative session 
to expand UCF’s partnership with the military. Under the proposed transaction, UCF would serve 
as the acquiring agency to secure the ground lease from Leidos Realty, LLC, and the vertical 
improvements from Cowperwood Orlando I, LLC, for complete ownership in the name of the 
Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund of the State of Florida. The property 
would be for the use and benefit of UCF. The total purchase price is estimated to be $14.05 million, 
subject to an appraisal. 
 
The purchase and sale agreement will require approval from the State of Florida. A subsequent 90-
day due-diligence period and a series of conditions must be completed prior to closing, including 
simultaneous acquisition of both portions of the property. 
 
 
 
Supporting Documentation:  Leidos Realty, LLC Purchase and Sale Agreement (Attachment A) 

 Cowperwood Orlando I, LLC Purchase and Sale Agreement  
   (Attachment B) 

 
Prepared by:      Jennifer Cerasa, Associate General Counsel  
 
Submitted by:    William F. Merck II, Vice President for Administration and Finance and  

   Chief Financial Officer 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

56



1049215.1 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 

Between 

LEIDOS REALTY, LLC, 

as Seller, 

and 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT  
TRUST FUND OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,  

as Purchaser,  

and 

UNIVERSITY OF CENTRAL FLORIDA,  
A PUBLIC UNIVERSITY, ON BEHALF OF ITS BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

as Acquiring Agency 

August ____, 2015 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

57



1049215.1 5.1.9.1-2 
 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 
 

THIS PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered 
into as of the Effective Date specified below, by and between LEIDOS REALTY, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company (“Seller”), and the BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 
INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT TRUST FUND OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA (“Trustees”) for 
the use and benefit of the UNIVERSITY OF CENTRAL FLORIDA, a public university, on 
behalf of its Board of Trustees (“Acquiring Agency”). Trustees and Acquiring Agency are 
referred to jointly as “Purchaser”. Trustees’ agent in all matters shall be the Division of State 
Lands of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (“DSL”). 

 
Recitals 

 
This Agreement is made with respect to the following facts: 
 
A. Seller owns the following described property (the “Property”): 
 

(1) The fee simple interest in that certain real property located in the City of 
Orlando, Orange County, Florida, as described in Schedule 1 to this Agreement (the “Land”), 
subject to that certain Ground Lease Agreement dated December 29, 2005 between Cowperwood 
Orlando I, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (“Ground Tenant”) and Campus Point 
Realty Corporation, a California corporation as evidenced in the Memorandum of Lease 
recorded July 27, 2006 in Official Records Book 8774, Page 4935, Public Records of Orange 
County, Florida (the “Ground Lease”), together with all reversions, remainders, easements, 
rights-of-way, appurtenances, agreements, licenses, tenements and hereditaments appertaining to 
or otherwise benefiting or used in connection with the Land or the Improvements (as hereinafter 
defined); 

 
(2) Any interest of Seller arising under Florida law, or from the Ground 

Lease, in the improvements located on the Land, including that certain 83,931 square foot, more 
or less, office building (the “Building”) and all fixtures therein (such Building and fixtures are 
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Improvements”), excluding, however, any such 
improvements or fixtures which are owned by the subtenants under the below-described 
Subleases in accordance with the provisions thereof.  The Land and the Improvements are 
located at 12809 Science Drive, Orlando, Florida and are hereinafter collectively referred to as 
the “Real Property”; 

 
(3) Any interest of Seller arising under Florida law, or from the Ground 

Lease, in the subleases and other occupancy agreements for space in the Building, including all 
rent, income and proceeds therefrom and security and other deposits made thereunder, and all 
amendments or modifications thereto and guaranties thereof, which subleases, amendments, 
modifications and guaranties are described on Schedule 2 attached hereto (the “Subleases”); 

 
(4) All right, title and interest of Seller in and to all governmental permits, 

licenses, certificates and authorizations, including, without limitation, certificates of occupancy, 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

58



1049215.1 5.1.9.1-3 
 

relating to the construction, use or operation of the Real Property, to the extent the same may be 
lawfully assigned to Purchaser (the “Permits”);  

 
(5) All right, title and interest of Seller in and to all site plans, surveys, plats, 

plans, soil and substratus studies, architectural, construction, road, drainage and utility drawings, 
plans and specifications, engineering plans and studies, landscape plans, and other plans and 
studies of any kind if existing and in Seller’s possession, to the extent that they relate to the Real 
Property and are assignable (the “Plans”); and  

 
(6) Any and all rights, privileges and appurtenances owned by Seller and in 

any way related to, or used in connection with, the operation of the Real Property, other than the 
Ground Lease, the Subleases, Permits and Plans (collectively, the “Intangible Property”). 
 
 B. Seller desires to sell to Purchaser, and Purchaser desires to purchase from Seller 
the Property on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. 
 

In consideration of the mutual promises and agreements set forth below, and for other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the parties hereby agree as follows: 

 
1. Purchase and Sale.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this 

Agreement, Seller agrees to sell, assign and convey to Purchaser, and Purchaser agrees to 
purchase from Seller, the Property. Pursuant to the provisions of section 253.025, Florida 
Statutes, no agreement to acquire an interest in real property for purposes of chapter 253, Florida 
Statutes, with a purchase price of greater than $100,000, may bind the state until the agreement 
has been submitted to and approved by the Trustees. As a result, this Agreement becomes legally 
binding on Trustees only upon approval of this Agreement at a scheduled meeting of the 
Governor and Cabinet sitting as the Trustees. In addition, the Acquiring Agency must obtain 
approval of its Board of Trustees.  As a result, this Agreement becomes legally binding on 
Acquiring Agency only upon its approval of the Agreement. 

 
Seller understands and agrees that Purchaser’s obligation to purchase the Property is 

contingent upon Purchaser simultaneously closing on the acquisition of the Improvements from 
Ground Tenant and the interest of Ground Tenant in the Ground Lease (the “Ground Lease 
Acquisition”), as further described in Section 10 below. In the event that Purchaser is unable for 
any reason to close on the Ground Lease Acquisition and terminate the Ground Lease and 
Sublease(s) at Closing, then Purchaser may terminate this Agreement, the Initial Deposit shall be 
returned to Acquiring Agency, this Agreement shall terminate and Purchaser shall be relieved 
from any further liability hereunder, except for the Surviving Obligations. 

  
 
2. Purchase Price.  The purchase price for the Property (the “Initial Purchase 

Price”) will be Three Million Four Hundred Thousand and No/100ths U.S. Dollars 
($3,400,000.00) subject to any adjustments, credits or prorations provided herein, and payable as 
follows: 

 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

59



1049215.1 5.1.9.1-4 
 

2.1. Deposit.  Twenty Five Thousand and No/100ths U.S. Dollars (U.S. 
$25,000.00) (which amount, together with all interest earned thereon, is hereinafter called the 
“Initial Deposit”), will be paid by Acquiring Agency to Philip L. Logas, P.A., as escrow agent 
(“Title Company”) by wire transfer of immediately available funds within two (2) business days 
following the Effective Date.  No later than the expiration of the Inspection Period (as defined 
below), if Purchaser elects to proceed with the purchase of the Property, then Acquiring Agency 
will make an additional deposit to Title Company in the amount of Seventy Five Thousand and 
No/100ths U.S. Dollars (U.S. $75,000.00) (the “Additional Deposit”).  The Initial Deposit and 
the Additional Deposit are referred to herein collectively as the “Deposit”.  Title Company will 
place the Deposit in an interest-bearing account.   

 
2.2. Status of Deposit.  If Purchaser elects to proceed with the purchase 

of the Property, then Acquiring Agency shall pay the Additional Deposit at any time prior to the 
termination of the Inspection Period, at which time both the Initial Deposit and the Additional 
Deposit shall become non-refundable except in the event of a default by Seller, the failure to 
satisfy a Closing Condition, as hereinafter defined or the inability of Seller to render marketable 
title.  Both the Initial Deposit and the Additional Deposit will be applied to the Purchase Price at 
Closing. 

 
2.3. Cash at Closing.  Upon Closing of the transaction contemplated by 

this Agreement (“Closing”), Acquiring Agency shall deliver into escrow with Title Company, 
by wire transfer of immediately available funds, the balance of the Purchase Price, subject to the 
adjustments and prorations provided for herein. Seller hereby authorizes Acquiring Agency to 
issue payment for the Purchase Price directly to Title Company who is authorized by law to 
receive such payment, and who is acceptable to Purchaser, and to require the Title Company to 
pay Seller’s expenses of sale and real estate taxes at Closing.  

 
2.4. Approved Value Contingency. The Initial Purchase Price is subject 

to adjustment in accordance with paragraph 2.5. This Agreement is contingent upon approval of 
the Final Adjusted Purchase Price, hereinafter defined, by Purchaser and upon confirmation that 
the Final Adjusted Purchase Price is not in excess of the maximum value of the Property as 
determined in accordance with section 253.025, Florida Statutes (“DSL Approved Value”). The 
determination of DSL Approved Value and the Final Adjusted Purchase Price can only be made 
after the completion and DSL’s approval of the survey required in paragraph 3.1.1. If funds in 
the amount of the Purchase Price are not available to the Acquiring Agency by the Closing, the 
Closing Date may be extended until such funds become available, not to exceed 60 days after the 
original Closing Date.  
 
 Acquiring Agency agrees that the Trustees shall take fee simple title to all of the Property 
at the Closing notwithstanding that Acquiring Agency is required to pay all of the Purchase 
Price. Seller shall convey its entire interest in the Property to the Trustees at Closing in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. The Purchase Price is the sole responsibility 
of the Acquiring Agency and the Trustees shall have no obligation under this Agreement to 
provide any portion of the Purchase Price, and Seller shall have no recourse whatsoever, at law 
or equity, against the Trustees or the Property relating to the Purchase Price.  

 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

60



1049215.1 5.1.9.1-5 
 

2.5. Adjustment of Purchase Price. If, prior to Closing, DSL determines 
that the Initial Purchase Price exceeds the DSL Approved Value of the Property, the Initial 
Purchase Price will be reduced to the DSL Approved Value of the Property (herein the “Final 
Adjusted Purchase Price”). If the Final Adjusted Purchase Price is less than 99% of the Initial 
Purchase Price because of the adjustment provided for in this paragraph 2.5., Seller shall, in 
Seller’s sole discretion, have the right to terminate this Agreement and no party shall have any 
further obligations under this Agreement. If Seller elects to terminate this Agreement, Seller 
shall provide written notice to DSL of Seller’s election to terminate this Agreement within 10 
days after Seller’s receipt of written notice from DSL of the Final Adjusted Purchase Price. If 
Seller fails to give Purchaser a written notice of termination within the aforesaid time period 
from receipt of DSL’s written notice, then Seller shall be deemed to have waived any right to 
terminate this Agreement based upon a reduction in the Initial Purchase Price. The Final 
Adjusted Purchase Price as calculated in this paragraph 2.5 is subject to further adjustment in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  The Initial Purchase Price and the Final 
Adjusted Purchase Price, whichever is applicable depending on whether or not an adjustment has 
occurred under the provisions of this paragraph 2.5, are hereinafter referred to as the “Purchase 
Price”.    

 
3. Purchaser’s Investigations. 
 

3.1. Seller’s Deliveries.  Within ten (10) days after the Effective Date 
(except as expressly provided to the contrary below), Seller will deliver or cause to be delivered 
to Purchaser the following (together with any information subsequently delivered by Seller to 
Purchaser, the “Property Information”): 

3.1.1. Survey.  A copy of the most recent survey of the Real Property in 
the possession or control of Seller (the “Survey”), if any.  In addition, Purchaser shall have the 
right to obtain, at Acquiring Agency’s sole cost and expense, either an update to the Survey or a 
new ALTA/ACSM Land Title Survey in form and content satisfactory to Purchaser. 

 
3.1.2. Copies.  Copies of the following:  the Ground Lease; all written 

Permits, if any; the Plans, if any; property tax bills for the current year and the previous (2) 
years; and Seller’s most recent Phase I environmental report and soils report, if any. 

 
3.2 Title Insurance Commitment.  Within twenty (20) days after the Effective 

Date of this Agreement, Purchaser shall obtain, at Acquiring Agency’s sole cost and expense, a 
current title insurance commitment issued by the Title Company as agent for Fidelity National 
Title Insurance Company (“Title Underwriter”), including legible copies of all recorded 
exceptions to title referred to therein (collectively, the “Title Commitment”).  Purchaser will 
review the Title Commitment as part of its investigations hereunder and will have the right to 
negotiate with Title Company in order to cause Title Company to modify the Title Commitment 
to reflect only those exceptions to title that are acceptable to Purchaser.  In addition, Purchaser 
shall have until the expiration of the Inspection Period (hereinafter defined) to review the Title 
Commitment and the Survey.  If the Title Commitment shall reflect any exception to which 
Purchaser delivers written objection on or before expiration of the Inspection Period, Seller shall, 
at its sole option, notify Purchaser, within five (5) business days of Purchaser’s notice of 
objections, that it elects to either (x) attempt to cure the objectionable item(s), in which case 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

61



1049215.1 5.1.9.1-6 
 

Seller shall have until the Closing Date to make such cure, or (y) not to attempt to cure such 
objectionable items.  Seller will be deemed to have elected option (y) above if Seller does not 
provide a notice within such five (5) business day period.  If Seller elects (or is deemed to have 
elected) either option (y) above, or option (x) above but is not able to make such cure, then, 
notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Purchaser may at its option 
terminate this Agreement in accordance with paragraph 3.5 below and receive a refund of the 
Deposit, whereupon the parties will be relieved from all obligations hereunder except for those 
obligations which expressly by the terms hereof survive termination of this Agreement (the 
“Surviving Obligations”), or waive its objections to title and proceed in accordance with this 
Agreement.  Subject to paragraph 4.2, and if Purchaser does not terminate this Agreement 
pursuant to this paragraph 3.5 hereof, then the “Permitted Exceptions” hereunder shall be any 
encumbrance or exception arising from the acts or omissions of Purchaser and the exceptions to 
title disclosed in the Title Commitment that the Title Company has not agreed to insure over or 
remove during the Inspection Period, or thereafter, and matters disclosed in the Survey or any 
update thereof or new survey obtained by Purchaser, excluding (a) any delinquent taxes or 
assessments and (b) any monetary liens or encumbrances arising by act or omission of Seller.  
Seller will reasonably cooperate to allow or cause the Title Company to delete the standard 
printed exceptions of such title policy referring to: (a) all taxes, (b) unrecorded rights or claims 
of parties in possession, (c) survey matters, (d) unrecorded easements or claims of easements, 
and (e) unrecorded mechanic’s liens (collectively the “standard exceptions”) that may be deleted 
or modified from the owner’s title insurance policy to be issued to Trustees at the Closing.  Seller 
will execute such certificates, affidavits or other instruments as the Title Company may 
reasonably require to issue the Title Policy (defined below), including, if required, any affidavit 
that states that no changes have been made to the Property since the date of the Survey. 

 
3.3 Environmental Site Assessment.   Purchaser, at Acquiring Agency’s sole 

cost and expense, may conduct an environmental site assessment of the Property to determine the 
existence and extent, if any, of any Hazardous Materials on the Property.  If further 
investigations, testing, monitoring or environmental site assessments are required by DSL or 
Acquiring Agency to determine the existence or extent of Hazardous Materials on the Property, 
Purchaser, at its sole option, may elect to extend the Inspection Period, hereinafter defined, to 
conduct such procedures at the Acquiring Agency's sole cost and expense, provided that such 
extension shall not exceed 60 days.   

 
 3.3.1.  If the environmental site assessment provided for in paragraph 3.3 

confirms the presence of Hazardous Materials on the Property, Purchaser, at its sole option, may 
elect to terminate this Agreement, receive a full return of the Deposit, and neither party shall 
have any further obligations under this Agreement.  Should Purchaser elect not to terminate this 
Agreement, Seller shall, at Seller's sole cost and expense and prior to closing, promptly 
commence and diligently pursue any assessment, clean up and monitoring of the Property 
necessary to bring the Property into full compliance with Environmental Law to DSL’s 
satisfaction in its sole discretion. 

 
 3.3.2.   However, notwithstanding the foregoing, should the estimated cost 

to Seller of clean-up of Hazardous Materials exceed a sum which is equal to 2% of the Initial 
Purchase Price, Seller may elect to terminate this Agreement, return the Deposit to Purchaser, 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

62



1049215.1 5.1.9.1-7 
 

and neither party shall have any further obligations under this Agreement. If Hazardous 
Materials placed on the Property by Seller or with Seller’s actual knowledge and prior to closing 
are discovered after closing, Seller shall remain obligated hereunder, with such obligation to 
survive the closing, delivery, and recording of the Assignment and Assumption of Ground Lease 
described in paragraph 11.2.1 of this Agreement and Purchaser's possession of the Property, to 
diligently pursue and accomplish the clean-up of Hazardous Materials in a manner consistent 
with all applicable Environmental Laws and at Seller's sole cost and expense.    

 
3.3.3. Further, if neither party elects to terminate this Agreement as 

provided above, Seller shall indemnify and save harmless and defend Purchaser, its officers, 
servants, agents and employees from and against any and all claims, suits, actions, damages, 
liabilities, expenditures or causes of action of whatsoever kind arising from Hazardous Materials 
placed on the Property during Seller’s ownership thereof or those Hazardous Materials of which 
Seller has actual knowledge.  Seller shall defend, at Seller's sole cost and expense, any legal 
action, claim or proceeding instituted by any person, entity, or agency against Purchaser as a 
result of any claim, suit, or cause of action for injuries to body, life, limb or property for which 
Hazardous Materials placed on the Property during Seller’s ownership or those Hazardous 
Materials of which Seller has actual knowledge that are alleged to be a contributing legal cause. 
Seller shall save Purchaser harmless from and against all judgments, orders, decrees, attorney's 
fees, costs, expenses and liabilities in and about any such claim, suit, investigation or defense 
thereof, which may be entered, incurred or assessed as a result of the foregoing.    

3.3.4. The limitation herein on Seller's contractual obligation to 
indemnify Purchaser as specified herein shall not be construed to limit Seller's legal liability 
under any Environmental Law for Hazardous Materials located on the Property or to limit 
Purchaser's legal and equitable remedies against Seller under any Environmental Law for 
Hazardous Materials located on the Property.    

 
3.4 Inspection Period.  Purchaser will have until 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on 

the date that is ninety (90) days after the Effective Date (the “Inspection Period”) to investigate 
the Property and all matters relevant to its acquisition, ownership and operation.  Such right of 
investigation will include, without limitation, the right to have made, at Acquiring Agency’s 
expense, any non-invasive studies or inspections of the Property that Purchaser may deem 
necessary or appropriate.  Seller agrees to cooperate reasonably with any such investigations, 
inspections or studies made by or at Purchaser’s direction so long as such cooperation is at no 
expense or liability to Seller.  Purchaser shall conduct all such inspections at its own risk and in a 
reasonable manner consistent with and not likely to disturb the normal operations of the Property 
and so as to minimize disruption to the subtenants of the Property.  Promptly after undertaking 
any testing or inspection, Purchaser shall restore the Property to substantially its condition prior 
to any such test or inspection.   

 
3.5 Termination.  If, on or before the expiration of the Inspection Period, 

Purchaser gives Seller written notice setting forth Purchaser’s dissatisfaction with the Property 
for any reason whatsoever in Purchaser’s sole discretion, or for no reason, and states in such 
notice Purchaser’s election to terminate this Agreement, then the Initial Deposit shall be returned 
to Acquiring Agency, this Agreement shall terminate and Purchaser and Seller shall be relieved 
from any further liability hereunder, except for the Surviving Obligations.  If Purchaser does not 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

63



1049215.1 5.1.9.1-8 
 

terminate this Agreement as described in the preceding sentence, then this Agreement shall 
remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms, and the Deposit shall become 
nonrefundable, upon satisfaction of the Closing Conditions as hereinafter defined. 

 
3.6 Indemnity.  To the extent permitted by Florida law, Acquiring Agency 

agrees to indemnify and hold Seller harmless from any claim, demand, liability, lien, cost or 
expense asserted against Seller or the Property arising out of or resulting from Purchaser’s or its 
employees’, agents’, representatives’ or contractors’ investigations of the Property prior to 
Closing, to pay Seller all reasonable costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
incurred in defending any such matter, and to repair any damages resulting to the Property due to 
such investigations or, if requested by Seller, reimburse Seller for all direct expenses incurred by 
Seller in repairing such damages if Acquiring Agency does not promptly repair such damages.  
Notwithstanding any other terms and provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, this 
indemnification, repair and reimbursement obligation of Acquiring Agency will survive any 
termination of this Agreement.  

  
3.7 Return of Property Information.  If this Agreement is terminated for any 

reason, Purchaser shall promptly (and in any event within ten (10) days thereafter) deliver to 
Seller all Property Information and other documents delivered to Purchaser (its agents, 
representatives or designees) by Seller or Seller’s agents, representatives or employees pursuant 
to this Agreement, together with originals of all engineering reports, environmental studies, sales 
reports, appraisals and other studies and reports obtained by Purchaser with respect to the 
Property.   Purchaser shall confirm in writing that it has returned all documents as required 
herein.  Purchaser shall not be liable to Seller for the accuracy or inaccuracy of any such studies 
or reports obtained by Purchaser or for any effect that any information contained in such studies 
or reports has or could have on the value of the Property. 

 
3.8 Ground Tenant Estoppel.  Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts 

to secure and deliver to Purchaser, prior to the end of the Inspection Period, an estoppel 
certificate (the “Estoppel”) from the Ground Tenant substantially in the form of Exhibit A 
hereto.  

 
4. Title. 
 

4.1. Issuance of Title Policy.  At Closing, Acquiring Agency will cause 
the Title Company to issue, or unconditionally commit to issue, to Trustees its fee simple policy 
of title insurance  insuring in the amount of the Purchase Price that Seller’s interest in the Land is 
now vested in Trustees, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions (the “Title Policy”).  Acquiring 
Agency will be solely responsible for satisfying any requirements that Title Company may 
impose specifically with respect to Purchaser, with any necessary cooperation from Seller, such 
as, for example, requirements with respect to Purchaser’s organizational status or authority to 
complete the transaction.  

  
4.2. Subsequent Title Defects.  If, subsequent to the expiration of the 

Inspection Period and prior to Closing, Purchaser notifies Seller of the existence of any 
encumbrance, encroachment, defect in or other matter materially and adversely affecting title to 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

64



1049215.1 5.1.9.1-9 
 

the Property, which was not reflected on either (i) the Title Commitment, issued or updated prior 
to the expiration of the Inspection Period, or (ii) the Survey (or any update thereto obtained by 
Purchaser prior to the expiration of the Inspection Period), which subsequently discovered defect 
is unacceptable to Purchaser in Purchaser’s reasonable discretion, other than any delinquent 
taxes or assessments or any monetary liens or encumbrances created by, through or under Seller 
which Seller is obligated to remove under this Agreement prior to Closing pursuant to paragraph 
12.6 (a “Subsequent Defect”), Seller may use such efforts as it may, in its sole judgment, deem 
appropriate to remove or cure such Subsequent Defect of title prior to Closing.  Seller will have 
no obligation, however, to cure any Subsequent Defect unless caused by or arising by, through or 
under Seller.  If Seller does not or is unable to so remove or cure all Subsequent Defects prior to 
Closing, Purchaser may (i) waive all such uncured Subsequent Defects and accept such title as 
Seller is able to convey as of Closing without any adjustment of the Purchase Price; or (ii) 
terminate this Agreement, whereupon Title Company will return the Deposit to Acquiring 
Agency, and all parties will be relieved of any further obligations hereunder, except for the 
Surviving Obligations. 

  
5. Seller’s Representations and Warranties.   
 

5.1. Representations and Warranties.  As a material inducement to 
Purchaser entering into this Agreement, Seller represents, warrants and covenants to Purchaser 
that the following matters are true as of the Effective Date and will be true as of the Closing 
Date: 

 
5.1.1. Authority.  Seller is a limited liability company duly organized and 

existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and is authorized to 
conduct business in the State of Florida.  Seller has full right and authority to enter into this 
Agreement and consummate the transaction contemplated hereby.  All requisite corporate action 
has been taken by Seller in connection with the entering into this Agreement and the instruments 
referenced herein and the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby.  Each of the 
persons signing this Agreement on behalf of Seller is authorized to do so. 

 
5.1.2. No Options.  Except as reflected in the Permitted Exceptions, 

Seller has not granted to any party other than Purchaser any option, right of first refusal, contract 
or other agreement with respect to a purchase, transfer, sale or assignment (other than a leasehold 
interest pursuant to a Ground Lease) of the Property or any part thereof or any existing right of 
first refusal has been waived. 

 
5.1.3. Consents; Binding Obligations; Violations.  All consents and 

approvals which may be required in order for Seller to enter into this Agreement or consummate 
the transaction contemplated hereby have been obtained.  This Agreement and all documents 
required hereby to be executed by Seller are and will be valid, legally binding obligations of and 
enforceable against Seller in accordance with their terms.  Neither the execution of this 
Agreement nor the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby will be in violation of 
any judgment, order, permit, writ, injunction or decree of any court, commission, bureau or 
agency to which Seller is subject or by which Seller is bound, or constitute a breach or default 
under any agreement or other obligation to which Seller is a party or otherwise bound. 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

65



1049215.1 5.1.9.3-10 
 

 
5.1.4. Ground Lease.  The Ground Lease is in full force and effect, has 

not been amended, modified or supplemented except as disclosed to Purchaser, and there are no 
existing defaults by either party thereto and there are no facts or circumstances existing which, 
with the giving of notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute a default by either 
party thereto.  The Ground Tenant has not exercised an option to purchase or right of first 
refusal. 

 
5.1.5. INTENTIONALLY DELETED. 
 
5.1.6. Parties in Possession.  Except for any parties in possession 

pursuant to, and any rights of possession granted under, the Ground Lease or the Permitted 
Exceptions, there are no parties in possession of any part of the Land, and there are no other 
rights of possession which have been granted by Seller to any third party or parties. 

 
5.1.7. Defaults.  To the extent of Seller’s actual knowledge, Seller is not 

in material default under any of the Permitted Exceptions. 
 
5.1.8. Condemnation.  Seller has no actual knowledge of any pending or 

threatened condemnation, expropriation, eminent domain or similar proceeding affecting all or 
any portion of the Property. 

 
5.1.9. Environmental Matters.  To the extent of Seller’s actual knowledge 

(i) there are no Hazardous Materials present on or under the Real Property in any quantity or 
manner that violates any Environmental Law now in effect; and (ii) there are no underground 
fuel storage tanks at the Real Property. 

 
5.1.9.1. Seller has not placed, or permitted to be placed, any 

Hazardous Materials on the Property and, to the best of 
Seller’s actual knowledge no other person or entity has 
placed, or permitted to be placed, any Hazardous Materials 
on the Property. 

5.1.9.2. To the best of Seller’s actual knowledge, there does not 
exist on the Property any condition or circumstance which 
requires or may, in the future, require cleanup, removal or 
other remedial action or other response under 
Environmental Laws on the part of Seller or a subsequent 
owner of all or any portion of the Property or which would 
subject Seller or a subsequent owner of all or any portion of 
the Property to liability, penalties, damages or injunctive 
relief. 

5.1.9.3. To the best of Seller’s actual knowledge, no underground 
treatment, buried, partially buried or above ground storage 
tanks, storage vessels, sumps, drums, containers, water, gas 
or oil wells, or landfills are or have ever been located on 
the Property. 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

66



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-11 
 

5.1.9.4. Seller, and to the best of Seller’s actual knowledge, any 
other person or entity that has owned, occupied or 
possessed the Property, has never violated, and is presently 
in compliance with, all Environmental Laws applicable to 
the Property. 

5.1.9.5. No warning notice, notice of violation, administrative 
complaint, judicial complaint or other formal or informal 
notice has been issued to Seller by any federal, state or 
local environmental agency alleging that conditions on the 
Property are in violation of any Environmental Law. 

5.1.9.6. Seller is not subject to any judgment, decree, order or 
citation related to or arising out of Environmental Laws, 
and Seller has not been named or listed as a potentially 
responsible party by any governmental body or agency in a 
matter arising under any Environmental Law. 

 
5.1.10. Violations.  To the extent of Seller’s actual knowledge, there is no 

existing material violation of any law, code, ordinance, rule or regulation of any governmental 
authority having jurisdiction over the Real Property, or any insurance policy covering the Real 
Property, with respect to the Real Property or its operation. 

 
5.1.11. Special Assessments.  To the extent of Seller’s actual knowledge, 

the Real Property is not situated within any special assessment district other than the districts 
revealed by the most recent statement for real property taxes for the Real Property. 

   
5.1.12. Litigation.  Seller has no actual knowledge of any pending or 

threatened judicial, municipal or administrative proceedings affecting the Property. To Seller’s 
actual knowledge, there is no pending or threatened litigation or dispute involving or concerning 
the Property.  

 
5.1.13. Liens. Seller has no actual knowledge of any mechanics’ liens, 

claims of lien or other claims against the Property and that Seller has no unpaid bills for labor or 
services performed on, or for materials supplied to the Property, except for those unpaid bills 
which will be paid prior to the Closing or paid by Seller with funds to be escrowed from the 
Closing proceeds.  

 
5.1.14. Certification Regarding Terrorism.  Seller hereby certifies that to 

the best of Seller’s actual knowledge, after making all appropriate inquiries, Seller is in 
compliance with, and shall use all funds derived from the sale of the Property in compliance with 
all applicable anti-terrorism laws, regulations, rules and executive orders, including but not 
limited to, the USA Patriot Act of 2001, 18 U.S.C. sections 2339A-C, and U.S. Presidential 
Executive Orders 12947 and 13224. 

 
5.2. Effective Date, Survival.  All of the representations and warranties 

made by Seller in this paragraph 5 are made as of the Effective Date.  At Closing, Seller shall 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

67



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-12 
 

deliver to Purchaser a certificate pursuant to which Seller shall reaffirm the representations and 
warranties made by Seller in paragraph 5.1 as of the date of Closing.  All of such representations 
shall survive Closing for a period of twenty-four (24) months following Closing. 

 

5.3. Actual Knowledge Defined.   For purposes of this Agreement, the 
phrase “Seller’s actual knowledge” or comparable phrase means the present, actual knowledge  
of Seller, without duty of inquiry or investigation.  

 

6. Acquiring Agency’s Representations and Warranties. 
 

6.1. Representations and Warranties.  Acquiring Agency represents and 
warrants to Seller as follows: 

 
6.1.1. Authority.  Acquiring Agency is a public university duly organized 

and existing under the laws of the State of Florida.  Pursuant to section 1001.706(7)(a), Florida 
Statutes, title to the Property shall vest in the Trustees. Subject to approval by the Trustees as 
described in paragraph 1, Purchaser has full right and authority to enter into this Agreement and 
consummate the transaction contemplated hereby.  Each of the persons signing this Agreement 
on behalf of Purchaser is authorized to do so. 

 
6.1.2. Consents; Binding Obligations; Violations.  After approval set 

forth in in paragraph 1, this Agreement and all documents required hereby to be executed by 
Purchaser are and will be valid, legally binding obligations of and enforceable against Purchaser 
in accordance with their terms.  Neither the execution of this Agreement nor the consummation 
of the sale will be in violation of any judgment, order, permit, writ, injunction or decree of any 
court, commission, bureau or agency to which Purchaser is subject or by which Purchaser is 
bound, or constitute a breach or default under any agreement or other obligation to which 
Purchaser is a party or otherwise bound. 

 
6.2. Effective Date; Survival.  All of the representations and warranties 

made by Purchaser in this paragraph 6 are made as of the Effective Date. At Closing, Seller shall 
deliver to Purchaser a certificate pursuant to which Seller shall reaffirm the representations and 
warranties made by Seller in paragraph 6.1 as of the date of Closing.  All of such representations 
shall survive Closing for a period of twenty four (24) months following Closing. 

 
7. “As Is” Purchase. 
 

7.1. Disclaimer.  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN SECTION 5 
ABOVE, AND IN SELLER’S ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF GROUND LEASE TO 
PURCHASER AT CLOSING OR AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT 
(COLLECTIVELY THE “EXPRESS WARRANTIES”), SELLER HEREBY SPECIFICALLY 
DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTY, GUARANTY OR REPRESENTATION, ORAL OR WRITTEN, 
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, PAST, PRESENT OR FUTURE, OF, AS TO OR CONCERNING 
(I) THE NATURE, QUALITY, AND CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY, INCLUDING, 
WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE WATER, SOIL, AND GEOLOGY THEREOF, (II) THE 
SUITABILITY OF THE PROPERTY FOR ANY ACTIVITIES AND USES WHICH 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

68



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-13 
 

PURCHASER MAY ELECT TO CONDUCT THEREON, INCOME TO BE DERIVED 
THEREFROM OR EXPENSES TO BE INCURRED WITH RESPECT THERETO, OR THE 
HABITABILITY, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS THEREOF FOR A PARTICULAR 
PURPOSE; (III) THE MANNER OF CONSTRUCTION AND CONDITION AND STATE OF 
REPAIR OR LACK OF REPAIR OF ANY IMPROVEMENTS THEREON; EXCEPT FOR THE 
EXPRESS WARRANTIES, SELLER DOES NOT MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS 
REGARDING HAZARDOUS WASTE, AS DEFINED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF 
FLORIDA OR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, AND ANY REGULATIONS ADOPTED 
PURSUANT THERETO OR THE COMPLIANCE OF THE PROPERTY WITH ANY SUCH 
LAWS.  EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES, PURCHASER AGREES TO ACCEPT 
THE PROPERTY AT CLOSING IN ITS PRESENT AS IS, WHERE IS, WITH ALL FAULTS 
CONDITION.  

 
7.2. Acknowledgements.  PURCHASER ACKNOWLEDGES AND 

AGREES THAT (i) PURCHASER IS REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL IN THIS TRANSACTION, 
(ii) PRIOR TO THE CLOSING PURCHASER WILL HAVE INSPECTED THE PROPERTY TO 
PURCHASER’S SATISFACTION, AND (iii) PURCHASER AND/OR ITS CONSULTANTS ARE 
QUALIFIED TO MAKE SUCH INSPECTION.  EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES, 
PURCHASER: (1) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT IS FULLY RELYING ON ITS OWN 
INSPECTIONS OF THE PROPERTY AND NOT UPON ANY STATEMENT (ORAL OR 
WRITTEN) WHICH MAY HAVE BEEN MADE BY SELLER OR ANY OF SELLER’S 
REPRESENTATIVES; (2) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS THOROUGHLY INSPECTED 
THE PROPERTY TO THE EXTENT DEEMED NECESSARY IN ORDER TO EVALUATE THE 
CONDITION THEREOF, AND IS RELYING SOLELY UPON SUCH INSPECTION; AND (3) 
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE DISCLAIMERS AND OTHER AGREEMENTS 
SET FORTH HEREIN ARE INTEGRAL PARTS OF THIS AGREEMENT, AND THAT SELLER 
WOULD NOT HAVE AGREED TO SELL THE PROPERTY TO PURCHASER FOR THE 
PURCHASE PRICE WITHOUT THE DISCLAIMERS AND OTHER AGREEMENTS. 

 
7.3. Reliance.  Except for the Express Warranties, Purchaser is not 

relying on any representation or promise made by Seller at any time and Purchaser hereby 
disclaims reliance on representations by Seller or any one acting on behalf of Seller and 
surrenders any right to sue based on any representations of the Seller not contained in this 
Agreement. 

 
7.4. Survival.  The provisions of this paragraph 7 will survive Closing or 

any termination of this Agreement. 
 

8. Covenants of Seller.   Seller hereby covenants with Purchaser as follows: 

  
8.1. Ground Lease.  Following the Effective Date, Seller will not execute 

or commit to enter into any modification, amendment or termination of the Ground Lease 
without Purchaser’s prior written approval.  If Seller desires to enter into any modification or 
amendment to the Ground Lease, Seller will deliver written notice to Purchaser requesting 
Purchaser’s approval thereof and providing therewith the most current draft of the proposed 
modification or amendment.  Seller also agrees to provide any other information in Seller’s 
possession concerning the Ground Lease which Purchaser reasonably requests.  Seller shall 
perform all obligations required to be performed by it under the Ground Lease in a timely 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

69



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-14 
 

manner.  Seller shall promptly deliver to Purchaser any notice sent to or received after the 
Effective Date pursuant to the Ground Lease. 

 
8.2. New Agreements.  Following the Effective Date, Seller will not 

enter into any new agreements which would affect the use, operation or enjoyment of the 
Property after Closing, without Purchaser’s prior written consent. 

 
8.3. Operation of Property Until Closing.  Prior to Closing, Seller will 

perform when due all of its obligations under the Ground Lease, its Sublease and the Permitted 
Exceptions.   

 
8.4. INTENTIONALLY DELETED 

8.5. INTENTIONALLY DELETED 
 
8.6. No Further Encumbrances.  Prior to the Closing, Seller will not grant 

any new deed of trust, mortgage, lien, security interest or other encumbrance encumbering the 
Property or Seller’s interest therein.  

 
8.7. Miscellaneous Covenants.  After the date of this Agreement and 

prior to Closing, Seller agrees:  (i) to pay, prior to delinquency, all real property taxes which 
become due and payable with respect to the Property; (ii) to make no change in the zoning 
classification of the Real Property; and (iii) to cause to be maintained all property and liability 
insurance historically carried in connection with the Real Property. 

 
9. Conditions Precedent.  Unless waived by the party entitled to the benefit thereof, 

the obligations of either party to close under this Agreement are subject to satisfaction of the 
conditions that all representations and warranties of the other party contained in this Agreement 
are true and correct in all material respects as of Closing and that the other party has performed 
all material covenants, agreements and obligations required to be performed by it under this 
Agreement.   

 
10. Closing Conditions.  The obligations of either party to close under this 

Agreement are additionally subject to the occurrence of the following conditions (“Closing 
Conditions”):  (i) Purchaser’s simultaneous  closing on the Ground Lease Acquisition (as defined 
in Section 1 above);   (ii) all necessary approvals by the Board of Governors, Board of Trustees, 
or the State of Florida Governor and Cabinet approval as may be necessary for Closing or 
Purchaser obtaining the necessary funding to close; (iii) Purchaser obtaining an appropriation by 
the Legislature; (iv) Acquiring Agency obtaining a  termination of those certain obligations 
regarding building a parking garage or deck pursuant to that certain Development and Easement 
Agreement with the Orange County Research and Development Authority; and (v) Acquiring 
Agency obtaining proof that Acquiring Agency may install a force protection fence which shall 
be satisfactory to Acquiring Agency in its sole discretion (the “Fence”). 

 
11. Closing.  Purchaser and Seller agree that the purchase of the Property will be 

consummated as follows: 
 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

70



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-15 
 

11.1 Closing Date.  Closing will occur on the date that is ninety (90) days 
following the expiration of the Inspection Period, unless extended by the terms of this 
Agreement, or such earlier date as may be mutually agreed to by the parties, and simultaneously 
with the Ground Lease Acquisition (as set forth in the Closing Conditions) (the “Closing Date”).   

 
11.2 Closing Documents.  Seller and Purchaser will deliver or cause to be 

delivered to each other at Closing, as appropriate, the following items (all documents will be 
duly executed and acknowledged where required): 

 
11.2.1  Special Warranty Deed.  A Special Warranty Deed, in the form 

attached hereto as Exhibit B, conveying to Trustees all of Seller’s right, title and interest in and 
to the Real Property, subject only to the Ground Lease and the Permitted Exceptions. 

 
11.2.2 Assignment of the Ground Lease.  A document, in form reasonably 

acceptable to Purchaser and Seller, assigning Seller’s interest in the Ground Lease to Purchaser.  
Seller will agree to indemnify, protect, defend and hold Purchaser harmless from and against any 
and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs and/or expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees, asserted against or suffered or incurred by Purchaser as a result of or in connection with any 
liabilities or obligations arising under the Ground Lease prior to Closing.     

 
 
11.2.3 General Assignment.  A general assignment, in the form attached 

hereto as Exhibit E, pursuant to which Seller will assign to Trustees all of Seller’s right, title and 
interest in and to the Permits, the Plans and the Intangible Property.   

 
11.2.4 Title Policy.  The Title Policy or an unconditional commitment by 

Title Company to issue the Title Policy promptly after Closing. 
 
11.2.5 Non-Foreign Affidavit.  An affidavit of Seller that evidences that it 

is exempt from the withholding requirements of Section 1445 of the Code. 
 
11.2.6 State Specific Documents.  Any disclosures, reports, instruments 

or other documents required by the Title Company or the laws of the State of Florida in order to 
consummate the sale of the Property. Specifically, within ten (10) days of Seller’s execution of 
this Agreement, Purchaser will deliver to Seller and Seller will confirm accuracy, execute and 
return to Purchaser, a properly completed and executed beneficial interest affidavit and 
disclosure statement as required by Sections 286.23, 375.031(1) and 380.08(2), Florida Statutes.   

 
11.2.7 Settlement Sheets and Funds.  Settlement statements reflecting the 

Purchase Price and all adjustments and prorations to be made thereto pursuant to this Agreement 
including, without limitation, paragraph 12 below, together with any amounts, in immediately 
available funds, required to be paid by either party thereunder. 

 
11.2.8 Updated Certificates.  Seller will deliver to Purchaser a duly 

executed certificate as contemplated by paragraph 5.2 hereof on DSL’s standard approved forms.  

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

71



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-16 
 

Purchaser will deliver to Purchaser a duly executed certificate as contemplated by paragraph 6.2 
hereof.   

 
11.3 Further Documents.  Seller and Purchaser will execute and deliver such 

other documents and will take such other action at Closing as may be necessary or appropriate to 
carry out their respective obligations under this Agreement, without further representations or 
warranties other than those contained herein. 

 
11.4 Possession, Additional Deliveries.  On the Closing Date, Seller will 

deliver to Purchaser, any keys to the Improvements, Permits and the Plans to the extent in 
Seller’s possession. 

 
12. Adjustments and Prorations.  The following adjustments and prorations will be 

made at Closing and reflected, where appropriate, on the settlement sheets described in 
paragraph 10 above: 

 
12.1. Intentionally Deleted  
 
12.2. Ground Lease.  To the extent applicable, rents payable under the 

Ground Lease for the month of Closing will be prorated between Seller and Acquiring Agency 
through the Closing Date.  Seller will pay all such amounts due under the Ground Lease and 
attributable to any period on or prior to the Closing Date.  Acquiring Agency shall pay all 
amounts due under the Ground Lease and attributable to any period after the Closing Date. 

 
12.3. Ad Valorem Taxes.  To the extent real estate and personal property 

taxes attributable to the Property are not paid by Ground Tenant, all real estate and personal 
property taxes attributable to the Property shall be paid by Seller at Closing pursuant to section 
196.295, Florida Statutes.  Seller shall pay all such taxes due and payable at Closing and which 
are attributable to the Property for any period on or prior to the Closing Date. If Trustees acquire 
title to the Property between January 1 and November 1, Seller shall, in accordance with section 
196.295, Florida Statutes, place in escrow with the county tax collector an amount equal to the 
current taxes prorated to the date of transfer, based upon the current assessment and millage rates 
on the Property. If Trustees acquire title to the Property on or after November 1, Seller shall pay 
to the county tax collector an amount equal to the taxes that are determined to be legally due and 
payable by the county tax collector.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Purchaser acknowledges 
that real estate taxes attirubtable to the Property are payable by Ground Tenant through the date 
of Closing under the terms of the Ground lease.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended to 
prevent Seller from collecting such tax amounts from Ground Tenant at or prior to Closing, and 
Purchaser will reasonably cooperate with Seller at Seller’s request (but at no expense to 
Purchaser) to cause the real estate taxes to be allocated as between Seller and Ground Tenant in 
the manner provided in the Ground Lease.  

 

12.4. Operating Expenses.  Operating Expenses attributable to the Land, if any, 
shall be prorated at Closing.  Seller will pay all operating expenses attributable to the Land, if 
any, through the Closing Date. 

 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

72



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-17 
 

12.5. Documentary Stamp Taxes.  Seller shall pay all documentary stamp 
taxes on the Deed associated with the conveyance, if any, of the Property to Trustees. 

12.6 Closing Costs.  In addition to the allocation of costs set forth in other 
provisions of this Agreement, (i) Seller shall be responsible for the payment of: (a) the cost of 
satisfying any liens on the Property if required herein, (b) the cost to cure title defects to the 
extent agreed to by Seller, (c) the fees of Seller’s attorneys, and (d) the Broker’s commission as 
set forth in Section 14 below; and (ii) Acquiring Agency shall be responsible for the payment of: 
(a) all costs of conducting its investigations of the Property, (b) all title insurance premiums 
attributable to the cost of the Title Policy including, without limitation, the cost of any special 
endorsements to such Title Policy (excluding the costs referenced above with respect to Seller’s 
cure of title objections if agreed to by Seller), (c) the fees of Purchaser’s attorneys, (d) all 
nominal recording costs, (e) the cost for any new or re-certified Survey obtained by Purchaser, 
and (e) any expenses of financing the Purchase Price including, but not limited to, appraisals and 
documentary stamp taxes on any mortgage with accompanying intangible tax. 

 
12.7 Date of Prorations.  The prorations and adjustments provided for in this 

Section 12 shall be made so that the Acquiring Agency shall receive the income and be charged 
with the expense of the operation of the Property on or after the Closing Date and Seller shall 
receive the income and be charged with the expense of operation of the Property before the 
Closing Date. 

 
12.8 Survival.  The parties’ obligations under this paragraph 12, to the extent 

not fully discharged by or through Closing, will survive Closing and remain fully enforceable 
thereafter. 

 
13. Casualty Damage. In the event that the Improvements should be damaged by any 

casualty prior to Closing, and if such event of casualty is of such a nature or extent as to give 
Purchaser the right to terminate the Ground Lease Acquision under the terms of Purchaser’s 
agreement with Ground Tenant related thereto, then in such event Purchaser shall also have a 
right to terminate this Agreement by notice to Seller given within ten (10) days after notice of 
termination is given to Ground Tenant, which notice to Seller will be accompanied by a copy of 
Purchaser’s termination notice to Ground Tenant.  Upon such termination, the Title Company 
will return the deposit to Purchaser and both parties will be relieved of any further obligations 
hereunder, except the Surviving Obligations. 

 
14. Condemnation. 
 

14.1. Notice.  If prior to Closing Seller learns of any actual or threatened 
taking in condemnation or by eminent domain (or a sale in lieu thereof) of all or any portion of 
the Real Property, Seller will notify Purchaser promptly thereof. 

 
14.2. Termination.  Other than with respect to an “Immaterial Taking” (as 

defined below), any actual or threatened taking or condemnation for any public or quasi-public 
purpose or use by any competent authority in appropriate proceedings or by any right of eminent 
domain of all or any part of the Real Property between the date of this Agreement and the 
Closing Date will, at Purchaser’s option, cause a termination of this Agreement.  The election to 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

73



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-18 
 

terminate provided hereby must be exercised by Purchaser (or will be deemed to have been 
waived) by notice to Seller to that effect given within fifteen (15) days following Purchaser’s 
receipt of Seller’s notice pursuant to paragraph 14.1 above.  Upon delivery of such termination 
notice, the Title Company will return the Deposit to Purchaser and both parties will be relieved 
of any further obligations hereunder, except for the Surviving Obligations.  If Purchaser does not 
elect to so terminate this Agreement, or in the event of an Immaterial Taking, Seller will be 
relieved of all obligations under this Agreement with respect to the portion of the Real Property 
so taken or condemned, but Purchaser will be entitled to receive all proceeds of any such taking 
or condemnation, and Seller agrees that it will not make any adjustment or settlement of any 
such taking or condemnation proceeding without Purchaser’s consent and will take at Closing all 
action necessary to assign its entire interest in such award to Purchaser.  Any taking or 
condemnation for any public or quasi-public purpose or use which does not affect access, reduce 
parking or take any part of the Improvements will be deemed an “Immaterial Taking.” 

 
15. Brokers and Commissions. 
 

15.1. Commissions.  If, as and when Closing occurs and Seller receives 
the Purchase Price, Seller will pay to Matthew T. McKeever, CCIM, SIOR of Cushman & 
Wakefield, Purchaser’s broker, and JLL, Seller’s Broker (collectively “Broker”), a commission 
equal to 2% to each such broker, based on the Purchase Price, pursuant to the terms of a separate 
agreement for services rendered in connection with this transaction.  Seller agrees to indemnify 
and hold Purchaser harmless from and against any loss, liability, damage, cost or expense 
(including, without limitation, court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees) paid or incurred by 
Purchaser by reason of any claim to any broker’s, finder’s or other fee in connection with this 
transaction by any party claiming by, through or under Seller.   

 
15.2. Survival.  The Seller’s and Acquiring Agency’s obligations under 

this paragraph 15 will survive Closing or any termination of this Agreement and remain fully 
enforceable thereafter. 

 
16. Remedies. 
   

16.1. Seller’s Default.  In the event that Seller shall fail to perform any of 
the material covenants or agreements contained herein which are to be performed by Seller, and 
such default continues uncured for ten (10) days after written notice specifying such default from 
Purchaser to Seller, Purchaser may, at its option, either (a) terminate this Agreement by giving 
written notice of termination to Seller, whereupon the Title Company shall return the Deposit to 
Purchaser and both Purchaser and Seller shall be relieved of any further obligations or liabilities 
hereunder except for Surviving Obligations; or (b) seek (i) direct (and not consequential) 
damages in the amount of Purchaser’s third-party out-of-pocket expenses reasonably incurred in 
connection with Seller’s default, or (ii) specific performance of this Agreement and direct (and 
not consequential) damages in the amount of Purchaser’s third-party out-of-pocket expenses 
reasonably incurred in connection with Seller’s default. 

 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

74



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-19 
 

 16.2  Purchaser’s Default.  In the event that Purchaser shall fail to perform any 
of the material covenants or agreements contained herein which are to be performed by 
Purchaser and such default continues uncured for ten (10) days after written notice specifying 
such default from Seller to Purchaser, Seller may, at its option, and as its sole and exclusive 
remedy, terminate this Agreement by giving written notice of termination to Purchaser, 
whereupon the Title Company shall pay the Deposit to Seller as liquidated damages and in full 
and complete settlement of any and all claims, and both Purchaser and Seller shall be relieved of 
any further obligations or liabilities hereunder except for Surviving Obligations. The parties 
acknowledge that Seller’s actual damages in the event of a default by Purchaser under this 
Agreement will be difficult to ascertain, and that such liquidated damages represent the parties’ 
best estimate of such damages. 

 
16.3 Indemnities; Defaults after Closing or Termination.  The limitations on the 

parties’ remedies set forth in paragraphs 16.1and 16.2 will not be deemed to prohibit either Seller 
or Acquiring Agency from (i) seeking indemnification from the other for any matter with respect 
to which such other party has agreed hereunder to provide indemnification or from seeking 
damages from such other party in the event it fails or refuses to provide such indemnification; (ii) 
seeking damages incurred during the period of time after Closing that a representation or 
warranty given as of the Closing Date by the other party hereunder survives Closing, for the 
other party’s breach of such representation or warranty discovered after such Closing; (iii) 
seeking damages or such equitable relief as may be available for the other party’s failure to 
perform after Closing hereunder any obligation hereunder which expressly survives Closing; or 
(iv) seeking damages or such equitable relief as may be available for the other party’s failure to 
perform after any termination of this Agreement any Surviving Obligations; provided, however, 
that in no event will either party be entitled to recover from the other any punitive, consequential 
or speculative damages, and no party may claim indemnification or damages of any kind from 
Trustees. 

 
17. General Provisions.  The parties further agree as follows: 
 

17.1. Confidentiality.  To the extent not in conflict with Chapter 119, 
Florida Statutes, each party shall hold in strict confidence all documents and information 
concerning the other and its business and properties and if the transaction contemplated hereby 
should not close, such confidence shall be maintained, and all such documents and information 
(in written form) shall immediately thereafter be returned to the party originally furnishing the 
same.  No public disclosure, either written or oral, of the existence or terms of this Agreement 
shall be made by either Purchaser or Seller without the consent of the other unless otherwise 
required by law.  The foregoing provision shall not, however, be construed to prohibit any party 
from making any disclosures to any governmental authority which it is required to make by law 
or to prohibit any party from disclosing to its investors, lenders, accountants, consultants and 
attorneys such terms of this transaction as are customarily disclosed to them in connection with 
similar acquisitions or from any party instituting a legal action in accordance with Section 15 
above to enforce the provisions of this Contract. The parties shall at all times act in accordance 
with the requirements of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. 

 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

75



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-20 
 

17.2. Time and Dates.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement and 
Seller’s and Purchaser’s obligations hereunder.  For purposes of determining dates under this 
Agreement (a) a day that is a specified number of days after a given date will be the day that 
occurs the specified number of days after (but not including) the given date (so that, e.g., the day 
that is ten (10) days after January 1 will be January 11); and (b) a day that is a specified number 
of months after a given date will be the day that occurs on the same day of the calendar month as 
the given date the specified number of months later (so that, e.g., the day that is four (4) months 
after January 15 will be May 15).  If any date set forth in this Agreement for the delivery of any 
document or the happening of any event (such as, for example, the expiration of the Inspection 
Period or the Closing Date) should, under the terms hereof, fall on a weekend or holiday, then 
such date will be automatically extended to the next succeeding weekday that is not a holiday, 
which day is sometimes referred to herein as a “business day”. 

 
17.3. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event it becomes necessary for Purchaser or 

Seller to file a suit to enforce this Agreement or any provisions contained herein, then each party 
in such suit will be responsible for its own attorneys’ fees and court costs incurred in such suit. 

 
17.4. Entire Agreement.  No change or modification of this Agreement 

will be valid unless the same is in writing and signed by the parties hereto.  This Agreement 
contains the entire agreement between the parties, including, without limitation, any signed or 
unsigned letters of intent, relating to the purchase and sale of the Property.  All prior negotiations 
between the parties, including without limitation, any signed or unsigned letters of intent, are 
merged in this Agreement and there are no promises, agreements, conditions, undertakings, 
warranties or representations, oral or written, express or implied, between the parties other than 
as set forth herein. 

 
17.5. Governing Law.  This Agreement will be construed and enforced in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Florida. 
 
17.6. Notices.  All notices, demands or other communications required or 

permitted to be given hereunder will be in writing and addressed as set forth below.  Any and all 
such items will be deemed to have been duly delivered upon personal delivery; or as of the third 
business day after mailing by United States mail, certified, return receipt requested, postage 
prepaid; or as of 12:00 Noon on the immediately following business day after deposit with 
Federal Express or a similar overnight courier service that provides evidence of receipt; or upon 
actual receipt if transmitted by facsimile or email to the facsimile number or email address set 
forth below, provided, however, that any notice given by email shall be promptly confirmed by 
facsimile: 

 
If to Seller, to: 

  

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

76



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-21 
 

 
Leidos Inc.  
11951 Freedom Drive 
Reston, VA 20190 
Attention:  Merelle Y. Douglas  
Fax: 571-526-7931 
Email:  MERELLE.Y.DOUGLAS@leidos.com 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Manelli Selter PLLC  
2000 M Street, NW, Suite 760  
Washington, DC  20036  
Attn:  Stephanie C. Cutler 
Fax:  (202) 887-0336  
EMAIL:  scutler@mdslaw.com 
 
If to Trustees, to:  
 
Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement  
Trust Fund of the State of Florida 
Division of State Lands, Florida Department of Environmental Protection 
3900 Commonwealth Blvd., Mail Station 115 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3000 
 
If to Acquiring Agency, to: 
University of Central Florida 
4365 Andromeda Loop North 
Orlando, FL 32816 
Attention:  General Counsel 
 
With a copy to: 
Philip L. Logas, Esq. 
Philip L. Logas, P.A. 
1525 International Parkway 
Suite 4021 
Lake Mary, Florida 32746 
Email:  plogas@logaslaw.com 
 

The above addresses may be changed by written notice to the other party given as set forth 
herein. 
 

17.7. No Recording.  This Agreement will not be recorded by either party. 
 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

77

mailto:plogas@logaslaw.com


1049215.1 5.1.9.6-22 
 

17.8. Headings.  The headings which appear in some of the Sections of 
this Agreement are for purposes of convenience and reference and are not in any sense to be 
construed as modifying the Sections in which they appear. 

 
17.9. Counterparts; Electronic Delivery.  This Agreement may be executed 

in counterparts, all such counterparts will constitute the same agreement and the signature of any 
party to any counterpart will be deemed a signature to, and may be appended to, any other 
counterpart.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email and upon receipt 
will be deemed originals and binding upon the parties hereto, regardless of whether originals are 
delivered thereafter. 

 
17.10. Assignment.  This Agreement cannot be assigned in whole or in part 

by either party without the prior written consent of the other, provided, however, that Purchaser 
may assign this Agreement to an Affiliate of Purchaser. 

 
17.11. Successors and Assigns.  Subject to paragraph 17.10, this Agreement 

will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors 
and permitted assigns. 

 
17.12 Effective Date.  The “Effective Date” of this Agreement shall be the date 

that this Agreement is last signed by Seller and Purchaser, but in any event shall not be a date 
prior to approval of this Agreement by the Trustees at a scheduled meeting of the Governor and 
Cabinet sitting as the Trustees. 

 
17.13 INTENTIONALLY DELETED. 

17.14 Purchaser Approval.  In the event Purchaser approval is required for any 
portion or portions of this Agreement, it shall be required that both the Trustees and Acquiring 
Agency each give approval.  Failure to approve by either party shall not constitute the requisite 
approval. 

 
17.15 Definitions and Index of Defined Terms.  Capitalized terms used in this 

Agreement and not otherwise defined shall, unless expressly stated otherwise, have the meaning 
specified in this paragraph 17.15.  The singular shall include the plural and the masculine shall 
include the feminine and neuter, and vice versa.  “Includes” or “including” shall mean, 
“including, without limitation.”  

“Additional Deposit” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 2.1 hereof. 

 “Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof. 

 “Broker” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 15.1 hereof. 

“Building” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 

“Closing” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 2.3 hereof. 

“Closing Date” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 11.1 hereof. 

“Deposit” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 2.1hereof. 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

78



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-23 
 

“Effective Date” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 17.12 hereof. 

“Environmental Law” means any and all federal, state, local or municipal laws, 
rules, orders, regulations, statutes, ordinances, codes, decrees or requirements of any 
governmental authority or requirements of law (including common law) relating to or imposing 
liability or standards of conduct concerning the protection of human health, the environment or 
natural resources, or to releases or threatened releases of Hazardous Materials into the 
environment, including, without limitation, ambient air, surface water, groundwater or land, or 
otherwise relating to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, 
transport or handling of Hazardous Materials, as now or may hereafter be in effect.  

“Estoppel” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 3.8 hereof. 

“Express Warranties” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 7.1 hereof. 

“Improvements” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereof. 

“Ground Lease” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereof. 

“Hazardous Materials” means any hazardous or toxic substances, materials or 
wastes, defined or regulated as such in or under any Environmental Law, including, without 
limitation, asbestos, gasoline and any other petroleum products (including crude oil or any 
fraction thereof), polychlorinated biphenyls and urea-formaldehyde insulation.   

“Immaterial Taking” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 14.2 hereof. 

“Initial Deposit” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 2.1 hereof. 

“Inspection Period” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 3.4 hereof. 

“Intangible Property” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereof. 

“Land” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereof. 

“Permits” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereof. 

“Permitted Exceptions” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 3.2 hereof. 

“Person”, whether or not capitalized, means any individual, partnership, limited 
liability company, corporation, association, business trust, government or political subdivision 
thereof, governmental agency or other entity. 

“Plans” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereof. 

“Property” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereof. 

“Property Information” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 3.1 hereof. 

“Purchase Price” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 2 hereof. 

“Purchaser” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof. 

“Real Property” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereof. 

“Seller” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof. 

“Subleases” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereof. 

“Subsequent Defect” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 4.2 hereof. 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

79



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-24 
 

“Survey” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.1 hereof. 

“Surviving Obligations” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 3.2 hereof. 

 “Title Commitment” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 3.2 hereof. 

“Title Company” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 2 hereof. 

“Title Policy” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 4.1 hereof. 

“Title Underwriter” shall have the meaning set forth in paragraph 3.2 hereof. 

 “Warranties” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals hereof. 
 

18. Additional Fence Obligations.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, 
Purchaser acknowledges Seller’s strong interest in ensuring that the Fence to be constructed 
around the Real Property is satisfactory to Seller in all respects.  Therefore, Purchaser agrees that 
Purchaser will reasonably coodinate with, and obtain Seller’s reasonable approval for, all matters 
related to the Fence, except that the following terms shall be deemed pre-agreed and pre-
approved as between the parties: (i) the Fence will meet the Department of Defence force 
protection standards, and (ii) the driveway and roundabout off Science Drive, which serves as the 
main entrance to Seller’s adjacent property at 12901 Science Drive (the “Adjacent Property”),  
will remain fully usable and available as the main entrance for ingress and egress to and from the 
Adjacent Property.  The foregoing obligations related to the Fence will survive Closing and be 
strictly enforceable by both parties.  

 
  

[Balance of Page is Left Intentionally Blank - Signatures Appear on Following Page] 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

80



Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

81



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-26 
 

 
 
ACQUIRING AGENCY: 
UNIVERSITY OF CENTRAL FLORIDA, a 
public university, on behalf of its Board of Trustees  

Witnesses: 
_________________________ 
Print Name:________________ 
 
__________________________ 
Print Name:_________________ 

 By:   
Name:   
Title:   

      Date: ______________ ____, 2015 

 

 

  

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

82



1049215.1 5.1.9.6-27 
 

This Agreement, together with the Initial Deposit described therein in the amount of 
$25,000, has been received by the Title Company this ___ day of _______________, 2015. 

 
TITLE COMPANY: 
PHILIP L. LOGAS, P.A. 
 
 

Date: ___________________, 201___ By: _____________________________________ 
 Name:  Philip L. Logas 
 Title: Attorney 
 Tel:  407-849-1555 
 Fax:  407-849-1570 
 

 
List of Schedules and Exhibits: 
Schedules: 
Schedule 1 – Legal Description of the Land 
 
Exhibits: 
Exhibit A – Form of Estoppel Certificate 
Exhibit B – Form of Special Warranty Deed 
Exhibit C – Form of General Assignment 
 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

83



1049215.1 

  

Schedule 1 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE LAND 

 

Lot 2, Block 13, CENTRAL FLORIDA RESEARCH PARK SECTION IIA, according to the 
plat thereof as recorded in Plat Book 15 at Pages 85 through 87, inclusive, Public Records of 
Orange County, Florida. 

 
 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

84



1049215.1 

  

Schedule 2 
THE SUBLEASES 

 
 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

85



1049215.1 

  

Exhibit A 
FORM OF TENANT ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 

TENANT ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 

_______________ ___, 2015 
_____________________________ 
_____________________________ 
_____________________________ 
_____________________________ 
_____________________________ 

Re: Lease Dated: ____________________, 20___ 
Tenant: ____________________ 
Premises: _____________________ 

_____________________ 
_____________________ 
_____________________ 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

It is our understanding that the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund of the 
State of Florida, by and through the University of Central Florida, a public university, on behalf of its 
Board of Trustees, or its assigns (collectively the “Purchaser”) will be purchasing the fee simple property 
described above (the “Premises”). 

 
Accordingly, the tenant named above (the “Tenant”), in and under the lease described above (the 

“Lease”) hereby certifies to Purchaser, and any assignee of Purchaser under the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement between Leidos Realty, LLC (the “Seller”) and Purchaser, that as of the date hereof: 

 
1. The Lease represents the entire agreement between the Seller as the landlord under the 

Lease (“Landlord”) and Tenant, is in full force and effect and has not been assigned, extended, modified, 
supplemented or amended in any way, except as noted in the attachments hereto, and a true, correct and 
complete copy of the Lease, including any and all amendments, is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

 
2. Tenant has accepted possession of the Premises. 
 
3. Tenant has fully inspected the Premises and found the same to be as required by the 

Lease and in good order and repair, and any improvements required by the Lease to be made by Landlord 
have been completed to the satisfaction of the undersigned. 

 
4. The primary term of the Lease commenced on ____________________, and continues to 

____________________, and contains ____________________ renewal options of _______ years each. 
 
5. The current monthly base rent (exclusive of Tenant’s share of operating expenses, 

insurance premiums and taxes) is $___________.  Tenant is also obligated to pay its proportionate share 
of certain taxes, insurance premiums and other costs and expenses associated with the Premises in 
accordance with the terms of the Lease, and the current monthly payment of such proportionate share is 
$_______________. 

 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

86



1049215.1 

  

6. Rental payments are being made on a current basis and have been paid through the month 
of _________, 2015.  Tenant has not entered into any agreements providing for the discounting, advance 
payment, abatement or offsetting of rents and no rent has been paid for more than one (1) month in 
advance. 

 
7. Tenant has paid a security deposit of $____________ to Landlord. 
 
8. As of this date, Tenant has not given Landlord notice of any existing violation of the 

Lease or notice of Tenant’s intent to vacate the Premises other than at the end of the term of the Lease or 
as otherwise provided in the Lease.  To Tenant’s knowledge, Landlord is not in default under any of the 
terms, conditions, provisions or agreements of the Lease, and Tenant has no offsets, claims or defenses 
against Landlord. 

 
9. Tenant has no options or rights of first refusal to purchase the Building, the Premises or 

any part thereof, except as set forth in the Lease, which includes _________________. 
 
10. Tenant is the sole owner and holder of the leasehold estate created by the Lease.  Tenant 

has not subleased any portion of the Premises, nor has Tenant assigned all or any portion of Tenant’s 
rights under the Lease. 

 
11. All insurance required of Tenant by the Lease has been provided by Tenant and all 

premiums now due have been paid. 
 
12. There has not been filed by or against Tenant a petition in bankruptcy, voluntary or 

otherwise, any assignment for the benefit of creditors, any petition seeking reorganization or arrangement 
under the bankruptcy laws of the United States or any state thereof, or any other action brought under said 
bankruptcy laws with respect to Tenant. 

 
 
13. Tenant acknowledges that Purchaser and its permitted assigns may rely on this Tenant 

Estoppel Certificate. 
Dated: _________________, 2015. 

TENANT: 
___________________________________, 
a _________________________________ 
 
By: ____________________________ 
 
Name: ____________________________ 
 
Title:  ____________________________ 

  

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

87



1049215.1 

Exhibit B

This Instrument Prepared By and 

Please Return To:  

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED 

THIS INDENTURE, made this _____ day of________________, A.D. 2003, between ___________________, a ________ 
corporation, whose post office address is _____________, Grantor, and the BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE INTERNAL 
IMPROVEMENT TRUST FUND OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, whose post office address is c/o Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection, Division of State Lands, 3900 Commonwealth Boulevard, Mail Station 115, Tallahassee, FL 32399-3000, grantee, 

(Wherever used herein the terms “grantor” and “grantee” include all the parties to this instrument and their legal representatives, 
successors and assigns.  “Grantor” and “grantee” are used for singular and plural, as the context requires and the use of any gender 
shall include all genders.)  

WITNESSETH: That the said grantor, for and in consideration of the sum of $10.00 and other good and valuable considerations 
to said grantor in hand paid by said grantee, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, has granted, bargained and sold to the said grantee, and 
grantee's successors and assigns forever, the following described land situate, lying and being in _____________ County, Florida, to-wit: 

See Exhibit "A" attached hereto and by reference made a part hereof. 

Property Appraiser's Parcel ID Number:  ____________________________ 

This conveyance is subject to easements, restrictions, limitations, and conditions of record if any now exist, but this reference shall not 
operate to reimpose any of the same. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same unto the said grantee in fee simple forever. 

AND the said grantor does hereby fully warrant the title to said land, and will defend the same against the lawful claims of all persons 
claiming by, through or under the said grantor, but against none other. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the grantor has executed these presents, the day and year first written. 

Signed, sealed and delivered in  the presence of: 
a _____________ corporation 

_______________________________________ 
(Signature of First Witness) 
_______________________________________ BY: ________________________________________ 
Printed name of First Witness    as President 

_______________________________________ 
(Signature of Second Witness) 
_______________________________________ (CORPORATE SEAL) 
Printed name of Second Witness  

STATE OF _______________________ 

COUNTY OF ____________________ 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this __________ day of _________________, 2003, by 
_________________________, as President of _______________, a  ____________corporation, on behalf of said corporation.  Such person 
(notary Public must check applicable box): 

(  )   is personally known to me 
(  )   produced a current driver’s license 
(  )   produced __________________ as identification 

_____________________________________________ 
Notary Public 

    (NOTARY PUBLIC SEAL) _____________________________________________ 
(Printed, Typed or Stamped Name of Notary Public) 
Commission No.: ____________________________ 

My Commission Expires: 
WDSpecial.0101 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

88



1049215.1 

  

 

Exhibit C 
FORM OF GENERAL ASSIGNMENT 

GENERAL ASSIGNMENT 

THIS GENERAL ASSIGNMENT (this “Assignment”), is made as of the _____ day of 
_______________, 2015, between Leidos Realty, LLC, a _______ limited liability company 
(“Assignor”), and Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund of the State of 
Florida  (“Assignee”). 

 
Assignee has this day acquired from Assignor all of Assignor’s right, title and interest in 

the land more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof (the 
“Property”), together with any rights Assignor may have in its capacity as a ground lessor in and 
to the building (the “Building”) located thereon and the other improvements located thereon 
(such Building and other improvements collectively referred to herein as the “Improvements”). 

 
In consideration of Assignee’s acquisition of Assignor’s right, title and interest in and to 

the Property and the Improvements and other good and valuable consideration, the mutual 
receipt and legal sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree 
as follows: 

 
Assignor hereby assigns, transfers and sets over unto Assignee, and Assignee hereby 

accepts from Assignor, all right, title and interest of Assignor (if any) in and to the following: 
 
1. Permits and Plans.  All (i) all governmental permits, licenses, certificates and 

authorizations, including, without limitation, certificates of occupancy, relating to the 
construction, use or operation of the Property and/or, the Improvements, to the extent the same 
may be lawfully assigned to Assignee (the “Permits”), and (iii) all site plans, surveys, plats, 
plans, soil and substratus studies, architectural, construction, road, drainage and utility drawings, 
plans and specifications, engineering plans and studies, landscape plans, and other plans and 
studies of any kind if existing and in Assignor’s possession or control, to the extent that they 
relate only to the Property or the Improvements and are assignable (the “Plans”). 

 
2. Intangible Property.  All rights, privileges, easements, hereditaments, and 

appurtenances in any way related to, belonging to, or used in connection with the operation of 
the Property and/or the Improvements (the “Intangible Property”). 

 
This Assignment is made subject to and excepting therefrom (a) claims for any sums 

owed to Assignor from the obligor that were asserted in writing by Assignor on or before the 
date hereof and (b) claims for sums incurred by Assignor arising out of or in connection with 
correction by Assignor of any defects in the condition of any improvements to the Property, if 
any, and disclosed to Assignee in writing prior to the date hereof. 

 
ASSIGNOR MAKES NO WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS OF ANY 

NATURE OR KIND, WHETHER STATUTORY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT 
TO ANY OF THE CONTRACT OR PROPERTY RIGHTS ASSIGNED HEREBY, 
INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO: TITLE; COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
REQUIREMENTS OF ANY LAW, RULE, SPECIFICATION OR CONTRACT PERTAINING 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

89



1049215.1 

THERETO; OR PATENT INFRINGEMENT OR LATENT DEFECTS. BY ACCEPTANCE OF 
THIS ASSIGNMENT, ASSIGNEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS INSPECTED SUCH 
ASSIGNED CONTRACT AND/OR PROPERTY RIGHTS AND HAS SATISFIED ITSELF AS 
TO THE CONDITION OF SAME AND THAT IT ACCEPTS THE SAME “AS IS, WHERE 
IS” AND “WITH ALL FAULTS,” WITHOUT REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, 
EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED. 

If any litigation between Assignor and Assignee arises out of the obligations of the 
parties under this Assignment or concerning the meaning or interpretation of any provision 
contained herein, each party shall bear its own costs and expenses of such litigation including, 
without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

This Assignment may be executed and delivered in any number of counterparts, each of 
which so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which shall 
constitute one and the same instrument.   

Assignor shall, at no cost to Assignor, (i) cooperate with Assignee to fully vest in 
Assignee the rights, titles and interests intended to be assigned by this Assignment, and (ii) 
execute and deliver to Assignee all documents, instruments or conveyances reasonably required 
to accomplish such transfer. 

This Assignment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of Florida. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Assignor has caused this instrument to be executed as of the 
_____ day of _______________, 2015. 

[Signature page follows] 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

90



1049215.1 

 

 
ASSIGNOR: 
LEIDOS REALTY, LLC, a ______ limited liability 
company 

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

ASSIGNEE: 
Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund 
of the State of Florida   

By:   
Name:  
Title:  
   

 

Attachment A

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

91



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

92



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

93



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

94



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

95



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

96



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

97



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

98



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

99



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

100



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

101



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

102



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

103



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

104



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

105



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

106



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

107



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

108



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

109



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

110



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

111



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

112



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

113



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

114



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

115



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

116



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

117



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

118



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

119



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

120



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

121



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

122



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

123



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

124



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

125



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

126



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

127



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

128



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

129



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

130



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

131



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

132



Attachment B

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - New Business

133



ITEM:  INFO-1 

 
 

 
University of Central Florida 

Board of Trustees 
Finance and Facilities Committee 

 
 
SUBJECT: University Operating Budget Report Ended June 30, 2015 
 
DATE: September 24, 2015 
 
 
 
 
 

For information only. 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

134



ITEM:  INFO-1 
 

University of Central Florida 
Operating Budget Status 

 
June 30, 2015 

 
Year-to-Date Activity and Variances 
 
The attached reports include revenues and expenditures for the 12 months ended June 30, 2015, 
compared to the operating budget. Student credit hours are consistent with the enrollment plan 
and are slightly higher than the prior year by 1 percent. Revenues as a percentage of budget are 
consistent with the prior year.  Expenditures as a percentage of the budget are approximately 3 
percent higher than the prior year.  Overall, revenues and expenditures as a percent of the 
operating budget are 86 percent and 85 percent, respectively. Specific activities and variances in 
certain budget categories are described below. 
 
Educational & General 
 

E&G revenues increased $31.4 million. State appropriations increased $27.2 million, which is 
primarily due to new performance-based funding and adjustments for compensation and benefits.   
 
E&G expenditures increased by $45.7 million. Salaries and benefits increased $33.6 million, 
which included pay rate, headcount, and legislative increases in employer contributions for 
benefits.  Other operating expenses increased by $12.8 million including increases in license, 
maintenance, and other software related costs, financial aid expenditures, and consulting and 
contracted services.  These and other increases were offset by fewer expenditures for facility 
improvements, a lower than expected Conference USA payment, and one-time prior-year 
transfers to other universities for TEAM Grant revenues that were received. 
  
Medical School 
 

Medical school revenues increased by $4.2 million due to increased student fees and state 
appropriations. 
 
Total medical school expenditures increased by $7.3 million.  Compensation and benefits 
increased $4 million, which included pay rate, headcount, and legislative increases in employer 
contributions for benefits.  Other operating expenses increased $2.9 million of which $1.3 
million was related to increases in financial aid, rental of facilities, and library and software 
subscriptions expenditures. 
 
Auxiliary Enterprises 
  

Auxiliary revenues increased by $10.7 million.  Student fee revenues increased by $5.9 million 
primarily related to transportation and health fees.  $2.7 million in external funding was received 
for the College of Medicine auxiliary activities.   
  
Expenditures increased by $17.4 million.  Accumulated investment gains of $13.9 million were 
transferred to fund construction for the new Global Achievement Academy building and 
Interdisciplinary Research building.  Salaries and benefits increased $7.9 million, which reflected 
employment cost increases and new positions.  These increases were offset by a decrease in other 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

135



ITEM:  INFO-1 
 

University of Central Florida 
Operating Budget Status 

 
June 30, 2015 

 
construction-related prior year transfer expenses of $5.1 million relating to health services and 
housing. 
 
Sponsored Research 
 
Sponsored research revenues in the prior year were higher than normal in conjunction with the 
implementation of a new financial systems accounts receivable module.  Effective November 
2013, revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.  The current year decrease reflects the impact of 
the conversion to full-accrual accounting in the prior year. 
 
Overall expenditures increased $17.2 million.  Grant-related subcontractor expenses increased 
$11.6 million primarily related to a new $12.7 million federal grant with the Florida Space 
Institute.  Current year expenditures also included $9 million to support the Florida Advanced 
Manufacturing Research Center. 
 
Student Financial Aid 
 

Revenues increased $12.8 million.  Federal funding increased $4.6 million for grants and $5.4 
million for loans.  State funding for scholarships decreased $3.9 million primarily due to a 
decrease in the Bright Futures program. Private funding for loans and scholarships increased 
$2.2 million, and institutional funding for merit-based scholarships increased $3.3 million.   
 
Expenditures increased $15 million.  Federal-funded awards increased $10 million.  State-funded 
awards decreased $4.5 million.  Private awards increased $1.5 million. Institutional grants 
increased $4.5 million.  Differences between revenues and expenditures by category are 
primarily related to timing differences between receipt and disbursement of funds.  
 
Student Activities 
 
Revenues increased $1.9 million primarily related to activity and service fees.  Expenses were 
consistent with the prior year. 
 
Concessions 
 
Revenues and expenses were consistent with the prior year.  
 
Technology Fee 
 
Technology fee revenues were consistent with the prior year. Technology fee expense variances 
were due to timing differences in the progress of the various projects. Approximately 37 percent 
of 2014-15 and 95 percent of the prior years’ awarded funds have been spent or transferred to 
Computer Services and Telecommunications for projects completed or in progress. 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

136



2014-15 Revenue Expenditures Expenditure 
Budget

% of Budget 
Spent

Revenue as 
% of Budget

Revenue less 
Expenditures

Fund Balance 
(as of July 1)

Educational & General 532,780,112$     514,618,218$     673,355,376$      76.4% 79.1% 18,161,893$      153,440,388$  
Medical School 40,029,289         37,044,935         57,083,903 64.9% 70.1% 2,984,354          20,535,923      
Auxiliary Enterprises 185,040,819       183,228,219       206,596,893 88.7% 89.6% 1,812,600          168,016,144    
Sponsored Research 143,151,392       150,060,254       152,584,000 98.3% 93.8% (6,908,862)        34,148,458      
Student Financial Aid 464,171,120       465,426,497       503,923,681 92.4% 92.1% (1,255,376)        28,901,462      
Student Activities 20,049,649         19,342,425         20,000,000 96.7% 100.2% 707,224             8,312,809        
Concessions 509,722              330,305              460,000 71.8% 110.8% 179,417             1,103,762        
Technology Fee 9,045,824           6,216,941           9,100,000 68.3% 99.4% 2,828,883          4,518,932        

1,394,777,927$  1,376,267,794$  1,623,103,853$   84.8% 85.9% 18,510,132$      418,977,877$  

2013-14 Revenue Expenditures Expenditure 
Budget

% of Budget 
Spent

Revenue as 
% of Budget

Revenue less 
Expenditures

Fund Balance 
(as of July 1)

Educational & General 501,347,043$     468,931,218$     611,434,294$      76.7% 82.0% 32,415,825$      121,024,562$  
Medical School 35,823,976         29,784,418         48,249,923 61.7% 74.2% 6,039,558          14,496,365      
Auxiliary Enterprises 174,317,591       165,800,333       188,545,104 87.9% 92.5% 8,517,258          159,498,886    
Sponsored Research 143,198,054       132,847,365       150,912,000 88.0% 94.9% 10,350,688        23,797,770      
Student Financial Aid 451,327,166       450,985,732       521,544,307 86.5% 86.5% 341,434             28,560,028      
Student Activities 18,164,462         18,806,150         21,945,080 85.7% 82.8% (641,688)           8,954,497        
Concessions 500,783              281,708              420,000 67.1% 119.2% 219,075             884,687           
Technology Fee 8,955,030           9,147,734           9,945,000 92.0% 90.0% (192,704)           4,711,636        

1,333,634,105$  1,276,584,659$  1,552,995,708$   82.2% 85.9% 57,049,446$      361,928,431$  

University of Central Florida
Operating Budget Report

as of June 30, 2015 (100% of year)

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

137



2014-15
Salaries and 

Benefits Expenses
Capital 

Purchases Debt Service Total
Salaries and 

Benefits Expenses
Capital 

Purchases
Debt 

Service Total
Educational & General 357,432,709$ 150,843,220$    6,342,289$        -$                     514,618,218$      69.5% 29.3% 1.2% - 100.0%
Medical School 25,281,491     10,778,787        984,656             -                       37,044,935          68.2% 29.1% 2.7% - 100.0%
Auxiliary Enterprises 56,732,296     109,313,913      1,803,051          15,378,960      183,228,219        31.0% 59.7% 1.0% 8.4% 100.0%
Sponsored Research 60,952,632     83,137,581        5,970,041          -                       150,060,254        40.6% 55.4% 4.0% - 100.0%
Student Financial Aid 3,385,813       462,040,684      -                         -                       465,426,497        0.7% 99.3% - - 100.0%
Student Activities 9,874,960       9,452,988          14,477               -                       19,342,425          51.1% 48.9% 0.1% - 100.0%
Concessions 2,368               327,937             -                         -                       330,305               0.7% 99.3% - - 100.0%
Technology Fee 3,328               4,176,189          2,037,424          -                       6,216,941            0.1% 67.2% 32.8% - 100.0%

513,665,597$ 830,071,299$    17,151,939$      15,378,960$    1,376,267,794$   37.3% 60.3% 1.2% 1.1% 100.0%

2013-14
Salaries and 

Benefits Expenses
Capital 

Purchases Debt Service Total
Salaries and 

Benefits Expenses
Capital 

Purchases
Debt 

Service Total
Educational & General 323,864,405$ 138,057,989$    7,008,824$        -$                     468,931,218$      69.1% 29.4% 1.5% - 100.0%
Medical School 21,315,927     7,901,775          566,716             -                       29,784,418          71.6% 26.5% 1.9% - 100.0%
Auxiliary Enterprises 48,824,615     100,694,371      2,243,888          14,037,459      165,800,333        29.4% 60.7% 1.4% 8.5% 100.0%
Sponsored Research 64,318,353     63,026,517        5,502,494          -                       132,847,365        48.4% 47.4% 4.1% - 100.0%
Student Financial Aid 3,951,234       447,034,497      -                         -                       450,985,732        0.9% 99.1% - - 100.0%
Student Activities 9,634,009       9,134,638          37,503               -                       18,806,150          51.2% 48.6% 0.2% - 100.0%
Concessions 4,233               277,476             -                         -                       281,708               1.5% 98.5% - - 100.0%
Technology Fee 46,864             5,383,565          3,717,305          -                       9,147,734            0.5% 58.9% 40.6% - 100.0%

471,959,640$ 771,510,829$    19,076,731$      14,037,459$    1,276,584,659$   37.0% 60.4% 1.5% 1.1% 100.0%

Expenditures - Amount Expenditures - Percent of Total

University of Central Florida
Operating Expenditure Report

as of June 30, 2015 (100% of year)

Expenditures - Amount Expenditures - Percent of Total

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

138



Student Credit Hours 1

Actual Compared to UCF Plan Actual Plan Difference % Variance Actual Plan Difference % Variance
Summer2  225,671          238,120          (12,449)             -5.2% 228,164         228,060         104                0.0%
Fall 651,023          644,740          6,283                 1.0% 644,246         643,743         503                0.1%
Spring 629,605          621,811          7,794                 1.3% 619,437         616,987         2,450             0.4%

1,506,299       1,504,671       1,628                 0.1% 1,491,847      1,488,790      3,057             0.2%

Current Year Compared to Prior Year 2014-15 2013-14 Difference % Variance 2013-14 2012-13 Difference % Variance
Summer2  225,671          228,164          (2,493)               -1.1% 228,164         235,805         (7,641)           -3.2%
Fall 651,023          644,246          6,778                 1.1% 644,246         649,923         (5,678)           -0.9%
Spring 629,605          619,437          10,168               1.6% 619,437         622,636         (3,199)           -0.5%

1,506,299       1,491,847       14,453               1.0% 1,491,847      1,508,364      (16,518)         -1.1%

Additional Statistical Information
2014-15 2013-14 Difference % Variance

Student headcount - Fall 2014 and 2013 60,821            59,770            1,051                  1.8%   
Percent in-state students - Fall 2014 and 2013 94.1% 94.7% -0.6%

Foundation endowment - June 30, 2014, and 2013 152,717,147$ 133,827,336$ 18,889,811$      14.1%
Foundation assets - June 30, 2014, and 2013 287,546,289$ 263,770,330$ 23,775,959$      9.0%

On-campus Housing, including Greek Housing3 6,896              
Rosen Campus housing3 380                 
Affiliated housing3 3,723              
Managed housing3 594                 
Gross square footage - Orlando Campus3 7,862,933        
Acreage - Orlando Campus3 1,415              

1 Medical students are not included in student credit hours.
2 Summer 2014 data.  Summer 2015 will be included in 2015-16 reporting.
3 As of Fall 2014.

2013-14

Statistical Information

University of Central Florida
Operating Budget Report

as of June 30, 2015 (100% of year)

2014-15

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

139



University of Central Florida 
Operating Budget Status 

 
Explanation of Terms 

 
Budgets 
 
Educational & General. The Educational & General budget includes expenditures for 
instructional activities and related administrative support. This budget is funded by general 
revenue, Educational Enhancement funds, and student fees.  E&G student fees include tuition 
and out-of-state fees. 
 
Auxiliary Enterprises. Auxiliary enterprises include those activities that are not instructional in 
nature but support the operation of the university. The primary auxiliary areas include Housing, 
Student Health Services, Parking Services, Computer Store, Telecommunications, Continuing 
Education, Dining Services, and the Bookstore. The auxiliaries must generate adequate revenue 
to cover expenditures and allow for future renovations and building or equipment replacement, if 
applicable. Several of the auxiliaries are partially or wholly funded by student fees, including 
Student Health Services, Parking Services, and Material and Supply Fees. 
 
Sponsored Research. Sponsored research includes research activities that are funded by federal, 
state, local, and private funds. 
 
Student Financial Aid. The student financial aid budget largely represents scholarship and loan 
funds that are received by the university and subsequently disbursed to students. Large 
disbursements of these funds occur at the beginning of the Fall and Spring semesters. The 
expenditures in this budget will, therefore, not coincide with the months remaining in the year. 
 
Student Activities. The student activities budget is funded by the Activity and Service Fee paid 
by the students and includes expenditures for student government and student clubs and 
organizations. This budget also includes all expenditures for the Student Union and the 
Recreation and Wellness Center. Expenditures for these entities are funded by the Activity and 
Service Fee and by revenue generated through functions in the facilities. 
 
Concessions. The concessions budget is funded from vending machine revenue. These funds are 
used for events and other expenditures that support the university.  
 
Technology Fee. The technology fee was established in January 2009 as allowed by Florida 
Statute 1009.24.  The university began charging 5 percent of the tuition per credit hour beginning 
in the fall term of the 2009-10 academic year.  A committee and guidelines for the allocation and 
use of the technology resources were established.  The revenue from this fee will be used to 
enhance instructional technology resources for students and faculty.  
 
 
 
 
 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

140



University of Central Florida 
Operating Budget Status 

 
Explanation of Terms 

 
Expenditure Categories 
 
Salaries and Benefits. Salaries and benefits include salary payments, along with employer 
benefit costs, including FICA, health insurance, life insurance, disability insurance, and pre-tax 
benefits. Benefits are approximately 31 percent of salaries for permanent employees. 
 
Expenses. Expenses include office supplies, repairs, maintenance costs, contract services, and all 
other items not included as salaries, capital purchases, or debt service. 
 
Capital Purchases. Capital purchases include personal property with a value of $5,000 or more 
and library resources with a value of $250 or more, and an expected life of one year or more.  
 
Debt Service. Debt service includes principal and interest payments on bonds and other loans 
within the university. 
 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

141



ITEM:  INFO-2 

 
University of Central Florida 

Board of Trustees 
Finance and Facilities Committee 

 
 
SUBJECT: UCF Investments Quarterly Report Ended June 30, 2015 
 
DATE: September 24, 2015 
 
 
 
 
 

For information only. 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

142



University of Central Florida
Total Operating Portfolio Summary(1)

As of June 30, 2015

1. The portfolio gain/(loss) data is presented gross of management fees and portfolio expenses but net of  physical cash flows.
2. The inception date for analysis is 3/31/10.  The actual funding  of the various portfolios occurred during March 2010. 
3. Pool III’s fixed Income market value includes the $8,677 cash balance held in the Pool III mutual fund account.
4. Pool IV’s fixed Income market value includes the $25,845 cash balance held in the Pool IV mutual fund account.

Page 1

Cash & Non-Investment Portfolio 12/31/2014                   
Reported Value

3/31/2015                   
Reported Value

6/30/2015                   
Reported Value

Bank of America $15,579,753 $1,271,428 $9,840,495 

CNL - Money Market $5,007 $5,007 $5,008 

SPIA $289,443,845 $334,105,269 $296,638,124 

UCF Parking Bonds (SPIA) $1,338,849 $1,022,972 $1,026,647 

UCF Housing Bonds (SPIA) $355,424 $333,330 $279,531 

Total Cash & Non-Investment Portfolio $306,722,878 $336,738,006 $307,789,806 

Structured Investment Portfolio (BNY) 12/31/2014                    
Market Value

3/31/2015                    
Market Value

1st Quarter 
Gain/(Loss)

6/30/2015                    
Market Value

2nd Quarter 
Gain/(Loss)

Inception 
Gain/(Loss)(2)

Pool I $29,997,110 $29,992,225 $740 $29,992,981 $756 $32,444 

Pool II $20,147,063 $20,186,931 $49,545 $20,201,710 $19,818 $326,149 

Fixed Income (Pool III)(3) $100,670,946 $101,581,086 $964,464 $101,513,224 ($46,119) $9,045,434 

Domestic Equity (Pool III) $19,822,646 $20,009,950 $187,303 $20,065,462 $55,513 $10,167,699 

Total Pool III $120,493,592 $121,591,036 $1,151,767 $121,578,686 $9,394 $19,213,133 

Fixed Income (Pool IV)(4) $25,131,721 $25,521,764 $413,804 $25,185,874 ($327,384) $4,473,908 

Domestic Equity (Pool IV) $38,909,833 $39,277,490 $367,657 $39,386,456 $108,965 $20,364,262 

International Equity (Pool IV) $9,521,586 $9,911,337 $389,751 $10,126,036 $214,698 $2,466,339 

Total Pool IV $73,563,140 $74,710,591 $1,171,213 $74,698,366 ($3,720) $27,304,509 

Total Structured Investment Portfolio $244,200,904 $246,480,783 $2,373,265 $246,471,743 $26,247 $46,876,235 

Total Operating Portfolio $550,923,782 $583,218,789 $554,261,549 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

143



University of Central Florida
Structured Investment Portfolio vs. Net Contributions(1)

As of June 30, 2015

 195

 205

 215

 225

 235

 245

$Millions

Beg Value + Contrib Market Value

Opening Value 210,017,451 

Gross Inception Earnings 46,876,236 

Management Fees (1,343,947)

Custodial Expenses(2) (327,997)

Operating Withdrawals (8,750,000)

Ending Value 246,471,743 

Gross Inception Return(3) 4.03%

Gross SPIA Inception Return(4) 1.92%

$199,595,507

$246,471,743

$210,017,451

1. Net contributions include cash flows associated with management fees, portfolio expenses and physical cash flows
2. Custodial expense figure is reduced by commission recapture income received
3. Annualized performance number.  Net of management fees inception earnings = $45,532,289. Net inception return = 3.91% 
4. The gross SPIA inception return corresponds with the 3/31/10 inception of UCF’s investment portfolio.  Net inception SPIA return = 1.80%  

Quarterly Gross Info

Earnings: $26,247

Return: 0.01%

SPIA: 0.34%

Page 2

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

144



Pool I: Yes No N/A

Investments limited to registered 2a-7 mutual funds, CDARS, and or/SPIA. 

Pool II: Yes No N/A

All fixed income investments shall maintain a minimum rating of "A-" or higher by a major credit rating service.

The weighted average quality of the fixed income portfolio shall maintain a rating of "AA+" or higher.

Duration of the fixed income portfolio shall not exceed the effective duration of the Merrill Lynch 1-Year Treasury index by 25%.

The maximum average effective maturity of any single security shall not exceed 3 years.

Operating Pool II shall maintain a dollar-weighted average effective maturity of 1 years or less.

Pool III Equity: Yes No N/A

Investments in equity securities shall not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the market value of Operating Pool III’s assets.

Pool III Fixed: Yes No N/A

All fixed income investments shall maintain a minimum rating of "A-" or higher by a major credit rating service.

The weighted average quality of the fixed income portfolio shall maintain a rating of "AA-" or higher.

The duration of the fixed income portfolio shall not exceed the effective duration of the benchmark by 50%.

Operating Pool III shall maintain a dollar-weighted average effective maturity of 7 years or less.

Pool IV Equity: Yes No N/A

Investment in equity securities shall not exceed seventy-five percent (75%) of the market value of Operating Pool IV's assets.

Foreign securities shall not exceed twenty-percent (20%) of the market value of Operating Pool IV's assets.

Pool IV Fixed: Yes No N/A

All fixed income investments shall maintain a minimum rating of "investment grade" or higher by a major credit rating service.

The weighted average quality of the fixed income portfolio shall maintain a rating of "A-" or higher.

Duration of the fixed income portfolio shall not exceed the effective duration of the benchmark by 50%.

University of Central Florida
Structured Investment Portfolio Investment Policy Compliance Checklist(1)

As of June 30, 2015

1. Taken as an excerpt from the UCF quarterly performance evaluation report. Individual managers are also measured on an ongoing basis against a combination of 15 quantitative and qualitative criteria.

Page 3

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

145



Target Policy Summary
Pool I 100% 90 Day US T-Bills

Pool II 75% ML 1-Year Treasury + 25% 90 Day US T-bills

Pool III 85% ML 1-5 Year G/C A or Better + 15% S&P 500

Pool IV 30% Barclays Agg + 5% Barclays TIPS + 50% S&P 500 + 15% MSCI-ACWxUS

University of Central Florida
Structured Investment Portfolio Detail

As of June 30, 2015

1. Pool III’s Vanguard Institutional Index market value includes the $8,677 cash balance held in the Pool III mutual fund account.
2. Pool IV’s Dodge & Cox Income market value includes the $25,845 cash balance held in the Pool IV mutual fund account. Page 4

Pool I $29,992,981 Current 
Allocation Pool II $20,201,710 Current 

Allocation

Cash & Equivalents $29,992,981 100.0% Short-Term Fixed Income $20,201,710 100.0%

Fidelity Money Market $29,992,981 Galliard Capital Management $20,201,710 

Pool III $121,578,685 Current 
Allocation Pool IV $74,698,366 Current 

Allocation

Intermediate Fixed Income (85%) $101,504,547 83.5% Broad Market Fixed Income (35%) $25,185,874 33.7%

Galliard Capital Management $54,711,185 Galliard Capital Management $14,773,715 

Sawgrass Asset Management $46,793,361 Dodge & Cox Income(2) $7,377,694 

Domestic Equity (15%) $20,074,139 16.5% Galliard Treasury Inflation Protected (TIPS) $3,034,465 

Vanguard Institutional Index(1) $20,074,139 Domestic Equity (50%) $39,386,456 52.7%

Vanguard Institutional Index $39,386,456 

International Equity (15%) $10,126,036 13.6%

Europacific Growth $10,126,036 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

146



Pool I
$60,000,000 

28.6%

Pool II
$20,000,178 

9.5%

Pool III
$79,873,620 

38.0%

Pool IV
$50,143,653 

23.9%

3/31/2010:  $210,017,451
Pool Allocation

Cash & Equivalents
$80,000,178 

38.1%

Fixed Income
$85,352,481 

40.6%

Domestic Equity
$37,000,000 

17.6%

International Equity
$7,664,792 

3.6%

Asset Allocation

Pool I
$29,992,981

12.2%

Pool II
$20,201,710

8.2%

Pool III
$121,578,686 

49.3%

Pool IV
$74,698,366 

30.3%

6/30/2015: $246,471,743
Pool Allocation

Cash & Equivalents
$30,027,503 

12.2%

Fixed Income
$146,866,286 

59.6%

Domestic Equity
$59,451,918 

24.1%

International Equity
$10,126,036 

4.1%

Asset Allocation

University of Central Florida
Initial Pool & Asset Allocation vs. Current Structured Investment Portfolio

As of June 30, 2015

Page 5

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

147



ITEM:  INFO-3 

 
 

University of Central Florida 
Board of Trustees 

Finance and Facilities Committee 
 
 
SUBJECT: University and DSO Debt Report 
 
DATE: September 24, 2015 
 
 
 
 
 

For information only. 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

148



By Entity
As of June 30, 2015

Fixed Variable Total
University

Health Center - revenue bonds 4,430,000$             -$                      4,430,000$             618,993$           Health fees
Parking - revenue bonds 34,160,000             -                        34,160,000             5,112,758          Transportation access fees, decals, fines
Housing - revenue bonds 101,190,000           -                        101,190,000           8,794,739          Room rents

Total University 139,780,000           -                        139,780,000           14,526,490        

UCF Hospitality School Student Housing Foundation
Housing - revenue bonds 13,055,000             -                        13,055,000             1,513,289          1  Total project revenues

UCF Convocation Corporation
Housing and retail revenue COPs 116,550,000           -                        116,550,000           8,152,141          Total project revenues
Arena and retail revenue COPs 92,225,000             -                        92,225,000             2,314,360          2  Total project revenues

Total UCF Convocation Corporation 208,775,000           -                        208,775,000           10,466,501        

UCF Stadium Corporation
Stadium revenue COPs 39,460,000             11,430,000           50,890,000             3,159,218          Stadium revenues, university resources
Student Leadership Center 4,010,000               4,010,000               343,123             Pledged donations

Total UCF Stadium Corporation 43,470,000             11,430,000           54,900,000             3,502,340          

UCF Finance Corporation
Burnett Biomedical Research facility bonds 54,085,000             -                        54,085,000             3,725,741          3  Sponsored programs

UCF Athletics Association
Due to university (principal only) 9,946,557             9,946,557               3,031,485            UCFAA and stadium restricted surplus funds
SunTrust 79,432                    -                        79,432                    33,929                  UCFAA revenues, pledge payments
Fifth Third lines of credit 6,435,000             6,435,000               250,000               UCFAA revenues and Title IX funds

Total UCF Athletics Association 79,432                    16,381,557           16,460,989             3,315,414          

UCF Foundation
SunTrust -                          965,000                965,000                  983,094               Property rentals, pledge revenues
Benton and Cole Trusts 1,963,550               -                        1,963,550               142,500               Property rentals, pledge revenues
Fairwinds 161,714                  -                        161,714                  165,455               Property rentals, pledge revenues
BB&T 24,300,000             -                        24,300,000             2,799,870          Property rentals, pledge revenues

Total UCF Foundation 26,425,264             965,000                27,390,264             4,090,919          

Total University and DSO Debt 485,669,696$         28,776,557$         514,446,253$         41,140,694$      

1 The university housing auxiliary is responsible for the Rosen Foundation debt service. The debt has a fixed-rate interest swap.
2 The arena debt was refunded in August 2015, which resulted in smaller principal and interest payments for 2015-16.
3

Maximum Amount Outstanding Available
UCF Athletics Association

Fifth Third lines of credit 8,435,000                 6,435,000              2,000,000                 

Outstanding Rate
UCF Stadium Corporation 11,430,000$            0.98%

UCF Athletics Association
Fifth Third lines of credit 6,435,000               1.46% - 2.18%
University loan 9,946,557               0.98%

UCF Foundation
SunTrust 965,000                  2.65%

Total variable debt outstanding 28,776,557$            

These bonds have a synthetic fixed-rate interest swap.  

Lines of Credit

Variable Rate Debt

University and DSO Debt

Debt Outstanding  Debt Service 
2016  Sources of Payment 

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

149



ITEM:  INFO-4

University of Central Florida
Board of Trustees

Finance and Facilities Committee

SUBJECT: 2016 Revised Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting Dates

DATE: September 24, 2015

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Information only.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The 2016 Board of Trustees’ Finance and Facilities Committee meetings are scheduled as 
follows and are subject to change:

March 2 8:30 – 10:30 a.m. Wednesday Millican Hall, #393
April 13 8:30 – 10:30 a.m. Wednesday Millican Hall, #393
May 26 Time - TBD Thursday Fairwinds Alumni Center
June 22 8:30 – 10:30 a.m. Wednesday Millican Hall, #393
August 24 8:30 – 10:30 a.m. Wednesday Millican Hall, #393
October 12 8:30 – 10:30 a.m. Wednesday Millican Hall, #393
December 7 8:30 – 10:30 a.m. Wednesday Millican Hall, #393

Supporting documentation: None

Prepared by: William F. Merck II, Vice President for Administration and Finance
and Chief Financial Officer

Submitted by: William F. Merck II, Vice President for Administration and Finance
and Chief Financial Officer

Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting - Information

150


	Agenda
	Minutes
	New Business
	Information

